
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Thursday, January 22, 2026 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held January 5. 2026 
• Special Called Joint Meeting held January 15, 2026 

b. Approve to Write Off Uncollected Debt on Utility Accounts 
 

8. Employee Recognition 
 

  BUSINESS  
 

9. ZA-C2600057: B&K Turner Family LLP has petitioned for an amendment to the official zoning map 
applicable to tax map parcel 083 025 006 (Hwy 53). The applicant proposes the property be rezoned 
from AP: Annexed Property District to R-3: Single-Family Residential District, for the construction of 
a 91-unit detached single-family residential subdivision. Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission 
on December 8, 2025 at 5:30 p.m. City Council on January 5, 2026 at 5:00 p.m. City Council for a 
decision on January 22, 2026. 
 

10. Consideration of Vehicle Purchases  
 

  WORK SESSION 
 

11. Financial Policy Amendment 
 

  STAFF REPORTS 
 

12.  Jacob Evans, City Manager 
13.  Robin Gazaway, Finance Director 

 

  MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED: Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or Personnel 
 

     RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
 

     ADJOURNMENT 
  

The next regularly scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, February 2, 2026 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting should 
contact the Clerk at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/22/2026 
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held January 5, 2026 
• Special Called Joint Meeting held January 15, 2026 

b. Approve to Write Off Uncollected Debt on Utility Accounts 
 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/22/2026 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

• REGULAR MEETING HELD JANUARY 5, 2026 
• SPECIAL CALLED JOINT MEETING HELD JANUARY 15, 2026 

 
     
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, January 5, 2026 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor John Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.  
 

2. ROLL CALL: Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, Councilmember Mark 
French, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Jacob Evans, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public 
Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utilities Director Russ Chambers, Finance Director Robin 
Gazaway, Director of Downtown Development Amanda Edmondson, Planning and Zoning Admin 
Stacy Harris and Dana from CPL. 

 

Councilmember Illg was not in attendance.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS: City Manager Jacob Evans introduced the new Utilities Director, Russ 
Chambers and welcomed him to the team.  

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to amend the agenda to add Item #11 Request for Vape 
License Approval made by S. Sawyer; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  The following persons spoke during public input: 
• Richard Herrmann, 222 Nashport Lane, Dawsonville – He expressed his concern 

regarding all the development going on in the City and the influx of traffic specifically 
on Highway 9.  He stated it is very difficult for him to pull out onto Highway 9 off of JC 
Burt Road and would like to see the round-about prioritized over the upcoming 
development.  

• James Parker, 150 Maple Street, Dawsonville – He spoke regarding items #9 and #10 
and shared his concerns about more development which will bring additional traffic to 
Maple Street.  He stated he surveyed residents in the area of Maple Street and Stegall 
Place and collectively they shared concerns about whether there will be enough EMS 
services and concerns about the housing market and house values being affected by 
these types of homes.  He also stated people are speeding on Maple Street and 
inquired whether the City will install speed humps.  Lastly he said he is not in favor of 
the development.       

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following item (a) made by S. 
Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

a. Approve Minutes  
• Special Called Meeting held December 9, 2025 
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held December 15, 2025       

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

8. ZA-C2600057: B&K Turner Family LLP has petitioned for an amendment to the official zoning map 
applicable to tax map parcel 083 025 006 (Hwy 53). The applicant proposes the property be rezoned 
from AP: Annexed Property District to R-3: Single-Family Residential District, for the construction of 
a 91-unit detached single-family residential subdivision. Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission 
on December 8, 2025 at 5:30 p.m. City Council on January 5, 2026 at 5:00 p.m. City Council for a 
decision on January 22, 2026. 
 

CPL Representative read the zoning amendment request.   
 

Motion to open the public hearing made by S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. Mayor Walden conducted the public hearing.   
 

The following person spoke in favor of the request: 
• Corey Gutherie, 283 Casi Ridge, Dawsonville – He spoke on behalf of the applicant 

saying this project is essentially an extension of the Cornerstone project for what 
otherwise would be a landlocked property.  He provided details regarding the existing 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, January 5, 2026 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 3 
 

conditions, the layout of the proposed community and the various home styles.  He 
discussed a potential tie in with Thunder Ridge Subdivision and other options for  
secondary access.         

      The following persons spoke in opposition to the request: 
 

• Bill Hamilton, 102 Midnight Run, Dawsonville – He stated he resides in the Thunder 
Ridge Subdivision and the subdivision has “been through the ringer” and stated in his 
opinion it’s “another piece that isn’t something we signed up for”.  He does not believe 
this should be connected since it was not a part of the original plan and also expressed 
his concern about traffic through the subdivision and also onto Hwy 9.  He asked the 
Council not to approve the request. 

• Darrell Hogan, 111 Midnight Run N, Dawsonville – He expressed his concern 
regarding the potential connection to the Thunder Ridge Subdivision and the additional 
traffic that will create a safety issue for the children of the community.  He asked the 
Council to deny connection to the subdivision.  

 

                   Mayor Walden asked if the applicant wanted to provide a rebuttal.   
 

Corey Gutherie stated they did take into consideration the additional traffic and said it could also 
provide a secondary exit for the Thunder Ridge residents as well but could consider a tie-in to the 
community with a gate or no tie-in at all. He said he understands the residents’ concerns and is looking 
for solutions concerning the overall community.  
 

• Michael Turner, 51 Hedgewood Lane, Dawsonville – He spoke about exchanging lots 
with the proposed subdivision and the Thunder Ridge subdivision but they cannot 
move forward without the zoning request approval from the City.  He also spoke about 
the property being covered by the Dawsonville overlay.  He further stated the only 
options to exit onto the road is to go through existing properties.  

 

      Motion to close the public hearing made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  
 

The Council held a brief discussion with the applicant regarding access to the property.             

BUSINESS 
  

9. ZA-C2500169: Spicer Group Inc. on behalf of Dede Allen, Habitat for Humanity - NCG has petitioned 
for an amendment to the official zoning map applicable to the properties provided below. The applicant 
proposes the properties be rezoned from R-2: Single-Family Residential District to RCT: Residential 
Cottage, for the development of a micro-planned/pocket cottage development. Tax map parcel D01 
047 005 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 006 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 007 
(Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 008 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 009, and tax 
map parcel D01 047 010.  Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on September 15, 2025 at 
5:30 p.m.; City Council – Tabled to October 20, 2025 at 5:00 p.m.  City Council for a decision on 
November 3, 2025 – Tabled to January 5, 2026. 
 

Motion to table ZA-C2500169 to the April 20, 2026 City Council meeting made by C. Phillips; second 
by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

10. VAR-C2500170: Spicer Group Inc. on behalf of Dede Allen, Habitat for Humanity - NCG has 
petitioned for a variance from Sec. 2103.9. Specifically, they request a reduction of the minimum 
required undisturbed buffer width for the proposed RCT: Residential Cottage zone from 50 feet to 40 
feet at the rear (north) and side (east and west) property lines, applicable to the properties below.  
Tax map parcel D01 047 005 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 006 (Stegall Place), tax map 
parcel D01 047 007 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 047 008 (Stegall Place), tax map parcel D01 
047 009, and tax map parcel D01 047 010.  Public Hearing: City Council – Tabled to October 20, 
2025 at 5:00 p.m. City Council for a decision on November 3, 2025 – Tabled to January 5, 2026. 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, January 5, 2026 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 3 
 

Motion to table VAR-C2500170 to the April 20, 2026 City Council meeting made by C. Phillips; second 
by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 
11. REQUEST FOR VAPE LICENSE APPROVAL:  Motion to approve the 2026 Vape License for 75 Hwy 

Dawsonville, Inc. made by M. French; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

Mayor Walden told a Christmas story about a young girl in the community who received the present 
she was hoping for - a gas powered motorcycle.  He also thanked the GMRC for everything they do 
and announced he received the 2025 Elected Official of the Year Award.   

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

                 At 5:44 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried  unanimously in favor.  

  
 

Approved this 22nd day of January, 2026 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  
 
 
___________________________________  
John Walden, Mayor  
 
 
___________________________________  
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1  
 
 
___________________________________ 
William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
 
___________________________________ 
Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3  
 
 
___________________________________  
Mark French, Councilmember Post 4  
 
 
 

 
Attested: _________________________  
               Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 



 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 

DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL CALLED JOINT MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 15, 2026 

DAWSON COUNTY GOVERNMENT CENTER ASSEMBLY ROOM 
25 JUSTICE WAY, DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA 30534 

2:00 PM 
 

 

A. ROLL CALL:   
 

Present for the Board of Commissioners were Chairman Billy Thurmond, Commissioner 
Seth Stowers, Commissioner Chris Gaines, Commissioner Alexa Bruce, Commissioner 
Chad Turkett; County Manager Joey Leverette, County Clerk Kristen Cloud and the 
Dawson County Attorney. 

 

Present for the City Council were Mayor John Walden, Councilmember William Illg, 
Councilmember Sandy Sawyer and Councilmember Mark French, City Manager Jacob 
Evans, City Attorney Kevin Tallant and City Clerk Beverly Banister.  Councilmember 
Phillips was not in attendance. 

 
B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA:   
 

Board of Commissioners: Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by S. 
Stowers; second by C. Turkett.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

City Council: Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; second by 
S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT: Jeff Johnson spoke as a citizen in opposition and stated he “flatly 

rejects this SPLOST as presented”. 
 

D. NEW BUSINESS: 
 

1. PROPOSED SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX (SPLOST) 
DISCUSSION 

 

a. ALLOCATION OF TAX PROCEEDS: Chairman Thurmond stated the 
total estimated SPLOST amount is $76,600,000 with a proposed 
allocation of eighty-eight percent (88%) to the County and twelve percent 
(12%) to the City; $67,400,000 and $9,200,000 respectively.  
 

b. POSSIBLE PROJECTS FOR INCLUSION IN THE REFERENDUM:  
County Manager Joey Leverette read the projects for the County and City 
Manager Jacob Evans read the projects for the City.  City Manager Evans 
pointed out that the total project amount in the IGA is incorrectly stated 
as $9,320,000 and should be $9,200,000. 
 

c. CONSIDER SPLOST INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT: Both 
Chairman Thurmond and Mayor Walden expressed their appreciation to 
their respective staff members who were involved with developing the 
project lists, noting the difficulty of having to remove projects in order to 
meet the proposed funding amount.    

Board of Commissioners:  Motion to approve the Intergovernmental Agreement with the 
correction of the Total City Projects amount to read $9,200,000 made by S. Stowers; 
second by A. Bruce.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 
 

 



 

 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL CALLED JOINT MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 15, 2026 

DAWSON COUNTY GOVERNMENT CENTER ASSEMBLY ROOM 
25 JUSTICE WAY, DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA 30534 

2:00 PM 
 

 
 
City Council: Motion to approve the Intergovernmental Agreement with the correction of 
the Total City Projects amount to read $9,200,000 made by W. Illg; second by S. Sawyer. 
Vote carried two in favor (Illg, Sawyer) with one opposed (French). (Exhibit “A”) 

 
E. ADJOURNMENT:  

 

Board of Commissioners: Chairman Thurmond adjourned the Board of Commissioners. 
 

City Council:  At 2:20 p.m. a motion was made by W. Illg to adjourn the City Council; 
second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

                                                                 Approved this 22nd  day of January 2026 
 

                                                                                     By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       John Walden, Mayor 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
       __________________________________ 
       William Illg, Councilmember Post 2 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
      
 
 
Attested: _________________________        
               Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    APPROVE TO WRITE OFF UNCOLLECTED DEBT ON UTILITY ACOUNTS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/22/2026 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO REQUEST ANNUAL APPROVAL TO WRITE-OFF UNCOLLECTED DEBT ON UTILITY 
ACCOUNTS TOTALLING $2,168.47 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• REQUEST IS FOR 25 ACCOUNTS TOTALLING $2,168.47  
 

• REQUEST INCLUDES UTILITY ACCOUNTS THAT ARE CLOSED AND BALANCES HAVE 
NOT BEEN COLLECTED FOR SIX YEARS AND WILL NO LONGER BE PURSUED BY THE 
COLLECTION AGENGY PER GA LAW; CLOSED ACCOUNTS WITH BALANCES THAT ARE 
OVER ONE YEAR OLD AND PERSONS ARE DECEASED AND/OR UNCOLLECTED 
BALANCES TOTALLING $5.00 AND UNDER 
 

• ATTEMPTS AT COLLECTING BALANCES HAVE BEEN PURSUED BY THE UTILITY 
DEPARTMENT AND THEN TURNED OVER TO PENN CREDIT FOR COLLECTION AS PER 
THE ORDINANCE 

 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Russ Chambers, Utility Director 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                                  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/22/2026 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO RECOGNIZE AND PRESENT EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 
    
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8    
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ZA-C2600057 B&K TURNER FAMILY       
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/22/2026         
 
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:      
 

ZA-C2600057: B&K Turner Family LLP has petitioned for an amendment to the official zoning map 
applicable to tax map parcel 083 025 006 (Hwy 53). The applicant proposes the property be rezoned 
from AP: Annexed Property District to R-3: Single-Family Residential District, for the construction of a 
91-unit detached single-family residential subdivision. Planning Commission public hearing date: 
December 8, 2025, at 5:30 PM.  Mayor and City Council public hearing date: January 5, 2026, at 5:00 
PM. City Council for a decision January 22, 2026. 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 

• +/- 35.31 acres 
• 91 dwelling units  
• Vacant land / Land lock 
• Planning Commission approved the request on December 8, 2025 with Staff 

Recommendations. 
 
 

     OPTIONS: Approval, Deny or Table  
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: CPL, Planning & Zoning Department 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    9    
 

 

 



*Hearing and meeting dates are subject to change           

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 1 
 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 

Planning Staff Report 
 

Request to Amend the Zoning Map (Rezone) 
 

 
 
 
APPLICANT  ................................................................B&K Turner Family LLP 
 
CASE NUMBER ...........................................................ZA-C2600057 
 
REQUEST ....................................................................Amend the zoning map to rezone a 35.31 +/- acre 

assemblage from AP: Annexed Property District to R-3: 
Single-Family Residential District, for the construction of a 
91-unit detached single-family residential subdivision. 

 

CURRENT ZONING DESIGNATION .............................AP: Annexed Property District 
 
SITE AREA ...................................................................+/- 35.31 acres 
 
LOCATION ..................................................................Hwy 53 
 
TAX MAP PARCEL ......................................................083 025 006 
 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION ............................No Designation 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING DATE ...December 8, 2025 
 

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE…...................January 5, 2026 
 

CITY COUNCIL DECISION MEETING DATE * ..............January 22, 2026 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The applicant petitions a zoning map amendment to rezone a +/- 35.31 acre tract for the development of 
detached single-family residences, intended as part of the greater Thunder Ridge and Cornerstone area 
developments. The parcel was approved for annexation into the City on August 21, 2023, and assigned the AP: 
Annexed Property District designation. The site maintains this zoning designation, despite recent zoning maps 
depicting the property as RA: Residential Agricultural or not zoned. The applicant proposes the site be rezoned 
to R-3: Single-Family Residential for the development of 91 detached houses on individual lots. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 

The site, historically part of unincorporated Dawson County, was approved for annexation into Dawsonville in 
2023. The site was designated as an AP: Annexed Property District, with no accompanying conditions of zoning. 
Land in the AP: Annexed Property District is effectively non-zoned, as “land use performance standards … shall 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 2 
 

be the same as were allowed under the county zoning ordinance” (Sec. 3302). Up to the effective annexation 
date, the site was designated Dawson County RA: Residential Exurban/Agricultural. A minimum of 24 months 
must elapse before AP: Annexed Property zones may gain a city zoning designation through a map amendment 
request. The applicant requests the site be rezoned from AP: Annexed Property to R-3: Single-family Residential. 
If the rezoning request is denied, the City shall initiate a zoning change on the property as to prevent the AP: 
Annexed Property designation from enduring for over 36 months (Sec. 3305.2). 
 
The subject property is currently vacant and undeveloped, with overhead power lines and the associated 
easement placed north-to-south at the western part of the site. A stream begins near the center of the site and 
exits at the southern property line. Per the submitted land survey, there is no 100-year flood zone present on 
the site. The parcel has no direct road frontage but would be connected to the public road network as part of 
the greater “Thunder Ridge” development; residential development is underway on the assemblages 
immediately east and south of the subject site. In association with this request, the number of Thunder Ridge 
access points would increase from one (1) to a minimum of two (2). The table below summarizes key Code 
requirements and development specifications. 
 

Specification Proposed Development R-3 Code Requirement  
Maximum Residential Density 2.58 du/acre 3.00 du/acre 
Minimum Front Yard Setback 30 ft. 30 ft. 
Minimum Side Yard Setback 10 ft. 10 ft. 
Minimum Rear Yard Setback 20 ft. 20 ft. 
Minimum Heated Floor Area (HFA) 1,500 sq. ft. 1,300 sq. ft. 
Minimum Lot Area 7,500 sq. ft. (75 feet wide, 100 feet 

deep) 
7,500 sq. ft. (75 feet wide, 100 
feet deep) 

 
The applicant proposes detached, single-family houses on individual lots, with varying house and parcel sizes. 
The smallest lots would measure no less than 7,500 square feet, satisfying the Code minimum, compared to the 
largest lots near half an acre each per the concept plan. The typical lot layout shows each house served by a 
two-car driveway, allowing for vehicles to be parked side-by-side without encroaching upon the right-of-way 
nor the sidewalk. The typical residence would also contain a front-loaded, two-car garage; the garage fronts 
would extend up to or in front of the actual front building line of each house.  
 
Presently, the site lacks road frontage, resulting in a lawful nonconforming status pursuant to Sec. 709. Internal 
pavement widths are proposed at 30 feet wide between the curbs, with five-foot sidewalks at both sides, in 50-
foot rights-of-way. A public road connection is planned at the southeast corner of the site with Cornerstone and 
is consistent with LDP approvals for that site. An additional access point to the northeast is also proposed but is 
less certain due to approved lots hindering the connection on the neighboring site. Subdivisions of this size 
(totaling 125 or greater residences) shall provide a traffic impact study and install the minimum number of 
access points recommended by the study, but no fewer than two (2) (Sec. 109-36(3)). 
 
On December 5, 2025, the applicant provided a traffic impact study for the proposed 91-unit development. Due 
to the time of submittal, this study was not formally considered at the Planning Commission public hearing. The 
study relies on an uncertain road connection into Thunder Ridge to the northeast. Under these conditions, “no 
additional recommendations are provided at these locations” (pg. 8). If the connection to the northeast is not 
realized, the traffic impact study would no longer reflect development conditions.  
 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 3 
 

The overall residential density of the subject site would be 2.58 dwelling units per acre (du/acre). The density, 
area, and dwelling unit figures are compared in Thunder Ridge and Cornerstone in the table below. 

Site Development Stage Dwelling Unit Count Acreage Residential Density 
Subject Site Conceptual 91 units 35.3 acres 2.58 du/acre 
Thunder Ridge phase 1 Complete 68 units 46.6 acres 1.46 du/acre 
Thunder Ridge phase 2 Construction ongoing 18 units 5.9 acres 3.05 du/acre 
Thunder Ridge phase 3 Construction ongoing 150 units 88.2 acres 1.70 du/acre 
Cornerstone Construction ongoing 219 units 121.1 acres 1.81 du/acre 
Total (with subject site) n/a 546 units 297.1 acres 1.84 du/acre 

 
The development would be served by sanitary sewer and public water. On-site stormwater management is not 
intended; the concept plan notes that “[stormwater] detention to be provided at offsite regional facility” absent 
further details. There is no mail kiosk or associated parking area depicted on the site. Open space and common 
areas are planned as a “pocket park” at the southeastern corner of the tract, and a larger area toward the site 
center with no direct road frontage, characterized by the existing stream. The provided Thunder 
Ridge/Cornerstone master plan shows a large resident amenity area on an R-3: Single-family Residential tract, 
currently under construction.  
 
Pursuant to Sec. 802, a landscaped buffer no less than 20 feet in depth must be maintained along the 
development perimeter. To the south and east, the site abuts other Thunder Ridge parcels, so the buffering 
requirement does not apply at those boundaries. The concept plan shows the 20-foot buffer at the northern 
site boundary, entirely contained within proposed private rear yards. The western vegetative buffer would also 
be placed in residential rear yards, between the associated houses and the 100-foot utility easement. Staff notes 
that providing minimum required buffers in open or common space is best practice; placing the buffer in private 
yard space may present maintenance challenges due to private use of the yards. 
 
The applicant provides six (6) zoning stipulations as part of their map amendment request; they are intended as 
proposed zoning conditions, which would exceed the minimum requirements of the Code. The proposed 
stipulations are provided and summarized below. 
 

Proposed Stipulation Staff Comment 
1. Development on Parcel 083 025 006 shall not exceed 91 units 

and a density of 2.6 units per acre. 
This stipulation would reduce the maximum 
residential density from 3.00 to 2.6 dwelling 
units per acre. The applicant could theoretically 
construct 105 residences at the maximum 
allowable density. 

2. Provide a 50-foot undisturbed stream buffer and 25-foot 
impervious setback on each side of the existing streams.  An 
exception is made for the installation of the required sanitary 
sewer lines and their associated easement to be allowed within 
the 25-foot impervious setback.  

The 25-foot impervious steam setback, provided 
in addition to the 50-foot undisturbed steam 
buffer, would exceed the minimum 
requirements.  

3. Install nature trail network system without land disturbance 
measures that will follow the existing topography in the open 
space areas and have connectivity to the Thunder Ridge and 
Cornerstone development nature trails.   

No nature trails are conceptualized in the plan. 
Any trail construction would exceed minimum 
Code requirements as none is mandatory.  

4. Eliminate the required 20’ exterior buffer for boundary lines 
adjoining the Thunder Ridge and Cornerstone subdivisions.  

 

Per Staff interpretation, there is no requirement 
to buffer from those abutting properties as they 
function together as a common development. 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 4 
 

5. Heated square footage:  
a. Minimum heated square footage of all homes shall be 1,500 sf.  
b. Maximum of 20% of homes to be less than 1,600 heated sf.  
c. Maximum of 35% of homes to be less than 1,800 heated sf.  
d. Minimum of 45% of the homes to be 2,000 heated sf or more.  
e. Minimum of 20% of the homes to be 2,200 heated sf or more.    

This stipulation would provide for a variety of 
house sizes, exceeding the minimum Code 
requirement of 1,300 square feet heated floor 
area (HFA) by varying levels. 

6. All homes, at a minimum, shall have brick or stone water table 
feature across the front and sides of the home. 

This exceeds the minimum requirements as 
architectural treatments are not a Code 
requirement. 

 
To be adopted, zoning conditions must be set forth in the minutes of application approval (Sec. 916). At the 
applicant’s discretion, they may recall any proposed stipulation not formally adopted by the Mayor and City 
Council as a condition of zoning, provided it does not result in a violation of the Code. 
 
The applicant has not submitted any variance requests related to the map amendment application. 
 
SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

Direction from Site Existing Zoning Existing Land Use 

North INST Vacant land 

South R-3 Detached single-family residential (construction ongoing)  

East R-3 Detached single-family residential (construction ongoing) 

West RA (Dawson County) Wildlife management area 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 
Pursuant to the 2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan, the subject site is not assigned a Character Area 
designation. The site was annexed into Dawsonville after the development of the 2023 Plan. All abutting 
incorporated parcels are in the Residential Character Area.  
 
The Residential Character Area “represents the outlying residential portions of the city to the northwest, 
northeast and south. There are no immediate plans to alter their general form or land use, and long term plans 
suggest these areas will remain residential. Present levels of agricultural activity will continue as development 
pressures will allow, but neither the city nor the county will pursue capital improvements in this region to 
facilitate new development.  
 
This area will be fostered as a haven for larger residential uses and rural/conservation subdivisions to facilitate 
a buffer between the higher densities of Dawsonville and the rest of Dawson County. Most development should 
entail large lots, with an average approaching or, preferably, surpassing five acres per unit [0.2 du/acre]. 
Nonresidential activity should be kept to a minimum and compliment the rural character of the area, such as 
churches, neighborhood scale markets and services with limited parking and traffic generation.” 
 
Permissible land use types in the Residential Character Area are Residential, Agricultural, and Conservation. 
 
The proposed land use generally aligns with Residential Character Area intent; however, site density is planned 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 5 
 

at 2.58 dwelling units per acre (du/acre), which exceeds the intended 0.2 du/acre density of the Area. 
 
ANALYSIS 

(1) Sec. 909 – Criteria to consider for map amendments (rezonings). 

Any proposed amendment to the zoning map shall be submitted by application with a copy of the plat and 
payment of a fee set by the governing body for the application and review of the proposed amendment to the 
zoning map. Applicants shall submit six copies of any proposed zoning map amendment and plat to the planning 
director or designee for distribution to the applicable bodies and/or review agencies. The planning director or 
designee may require more or less copies depending on the nature and extent of required review. Applications 
which require action by the governing body shall require disclosure of any conflicts of interest as specified in 
the Georgia Zoning Procedures Act. 
 
The applicant, staff, planning commission and governing body should review an application for zoning map 
amendment with regard to the following criteria: 
 

(Language in bold is from the City of Dawsonville Zoning Ordinance. Bulleted information that is not bolded are 
factors known to staff that may apply to the Ordinance criteria.) 

1. The existing uses and zoning of nearby property and whether the proposed zoning will adversely affect 
the existing use or usability of nearby property. 

• Most nearby incorporated properties are zoned R-3: Single-family Residential or INST: 
Institutional.  

i. The unincorporated parcel to the west is part of a wildlife management area.  
ii. All abutting occupied parcels have existing or ongoing development of moderate density 

detached housing consistent with the subject proposal. 
• Stormwater management practices have not been specified; future review is necessary to assess 

effects on nearby sites. 
 

2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
• The site is currently zoned AP: Annexed Property district. County-level development standards 

are maintained until a City zoning designation is formalized. 
i. The County zoning designation effective until annexation in 2023 (RA: Residential 

Agricultural/Residential Exurban) allowed for specific residential, agricultural, and 
agritourist land uses. 

• A City zoning designation must be provided between 24 and 36 months following the date of 
annexation (Sec. 3305.2). 

• Absent a formal market analysis, staff is unable to determine the impact of the existing zoning 
classifications on the sites’ property values. 
 

3. The extent to which the destruction of property values promotes the health, safety, morals or general 
welfare of the public. 

• Absent a formal market analysis, staff is unable to determine the impact of the development 
proposal on local property values.  
 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 6 
 

4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the individual property 
owner. 

• The applicant voluntarily filed the subject application with the City in August 2025. 
• Had Dawsonville not received a map amendment request by November 2025, a City-initiated 

zoning change would have been necessary (Sec. 3305.2.b). 
 

5. The physical suitability of the subject property for development as presently zoned and under the 
proposed zoning district. 

• This 35-acre property is presently vacant and landlocked, with no direct access or road frontage. 
i. Due to lack of road frontage, the site is not suitable for development beyond possibly one 

(1) single-family residence. 
• The developer proposes a public road network connection as part of the development, increasing 

site suitability for a residential subdivision.  
 

6. The length of time the property has been vacant, considered in the context of land development in 
the area in the vicinity of the property, and whether there are existing or changed conditions affecting 
the use and development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval or 
disapproval of the rezoning request. 

• The parcel has no recorded history of development. 
i. Staff has not identified any existing or changing conditions that inherently support the 

approval or denial of the subject rezoning request.  
 

7. The zoning history of the subject property. 
• The site maintained a Dawson County RA: Residential Agricultural/Residential Exurban zoning 

designation until City annexation in 2023 as an AP: Annexed Property District.   
 

8. The extent to which the proposed zoning will result in a use, which will or could cause excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities, schools, parks, or other public 
facilities. 

• The addition of 91 detached residences would increase traffic volumes throughout the greater 
Thunder Ridge development and at intersections with GA 9. 

i. The applicant has not submitted a traffic impact study as part of this request.  
• The proposal is not anticipated to burden location utilities, schools, or other public facilities. 

 

9. Whether the zoning proposal is in conformity with the policy and intent of the comprehensive plan, 
land use plan, or other adopted plans. 

• The site does not have a Character Area designation due to its recent annexation status. 
i. The calculated gross residential density of 2.58 du/acre exceeds the intended 0.2 du/acre 

intent of the surrounding Residential Character Area. 
 
The staff, planning commission and governing body may consider other factors deemed relevant before 
formulating recommendations and taking action on a particular request. 
 
DAWSON COUNTY FIRE MARSHAL 



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 7 
 

On November 18, 2025, Jeffrey Bailey provided the following comments: 

1. All fire apparatus access roads will need to be designed, constructed, and maintained in accordance with 
2018 IFC, Sect 503 and appendix D, w/ GA amendments 

2. Required min fire flow shall be provided in accordance with Dawson County Fire Ord. 22-26 
3. Fire hydrants shall be installed in accordance with Dawson County Fire Ord. 22-25 
4. Vehicle parking on fire apparatus access roads shall be prohibited and NO PARKING signage shall be 

posted in accordance with 2018 IFC App. D. 
5. HOA covenants shall specify that there is to be no roadway/curbside vehicle parking on roads and 

describe the manner in which the HOA will enforce same 
6. Provide details on how City land development requirements for additional entrance(s) to subdivision 

(based on the number of homes) will be accomplished. 
 

DEPARTMENT OF DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 

On November 25, 2025, Amanda Edmondson indicated the Department has no comments related to this 
request. 
 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

The Department has not provided feedback on this request.  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

At their public meeting on December 8, 2025, the Planning Commission recommended approval with conditions 
of the requested zoning map amendment to rezone the 35.31 +/- acre tract from AP: Annexed Property District 
to R-3: Single-family Residential District. The following conditions are recommended for adoption as part of the 
map amendment request. 
 

1. The applicant shall cause for a traffic impact study to be completed for the greater “Thunder Ridge 
Development,” consisting of, at minimum, Cornerstone (includes tax map parcels 084 004 and 084 005), 
Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 1, Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 2, Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 
3, and the subject site. Any recommendations of the traffic impact study regarding quantity and service 
level of access points at GA-9 shall be implemented, or approved for implementation by a Land 
Disturbance Permit (LDP), not after the issuance of an LDP for the subject site. 

2. No portion of the minimum required vegetative buffer (20 feet in depth) along the northern and western 
property boundaries shall be situated on any lot to contain a dwelling unit. 

3. The subject site shall not be developed with greater than ninety-one (91) principal dwelling units. 
4. An unpaved trail network no less than five (5) feet in width shall be constructed on the site. The site shall 

contain no less than 2,000 feet of unpaved trail length. 
5. No principal dwelling unit shall have a heated floor area (HFA) of less than 1,500 square feet. 
6. All residences constructed in the development shall feature a contrasting base of brick or stone on the 

front and side façades. Except where interrupted by windows and doors, the contrasting base shall 
maintain a minimum height of thirty-six (36) inches and shall extend up to, at minimum, the first-floor 
elevation (FFE) of the subject dwelling.  



  

Mayor & City Council Meeting | 22 January 2026 | pg. 8 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval with conditions of the requested zoning map amendment to rezone the 35.31 +/- 
acre tract from AP: Annexed Property District to R-3: Single-family Residential District. The following conditions 
are recommended for adoption as part of the map amendment request. 

1. The applicant shall cause for a traffic impact study to be completed for the greater “Thunder Ridge 
Development,” consisting of, at minimum, Cornerstone (includes tax map parcels 084 004 and 084 005), 
Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 1, Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 2, Thunder Ridge Subdivision phase 
3, and the subject site. Any recommendations of the traffic impact study regarding quantity and service 
level of access points at GA-9 shall be implemented, or approved for implementation by a Land 
Disturbance Permit (LDP), not after the issuance of an LDP for the subject site. 

2. No portion of the minimum required vegetative buffer (20 feet in depth) along the northern and western 
property boundaries shall be situated on any lot to contain a dwelling unit. 

3. The subject site shall not be developed with greater than ninety-one (91) principal dwelling units. 
4. An unpaved trail network no less than five (5) feet in width shall be constructed on the site. The site shall 

contain no less than 2,000 feet of unpaved trail length. 
5. No principal dwelling unit shall have a heated floor area (HFA) of less than 1,500 square feet. 
6. All residences constructed in the development shall feature a contrasting base of brick or stone on the 

front and side façades. Except where interrupted by windows and doors, the contrasting base shall 
maintain a minimum height of thirty-six (36) inches and shall extend up to, at minimum, the first-floor 
elevation (FFE) of the subject dwelling.  



























 

 

  

Cornerstone Residential 

Development Expansion 

Traffic Impact Study 

Prepared for:  

B&K Turner Family, LLP 

Prepared by: 

KCI Technologies Inc. 

2160 Satellite Boulevard, Suite 130 

Duluth, GA 30097 

www.kci.com 

678.990.6200 

September 2025 

KCI Project #00051920 

http://www.kci.com/




Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   I 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the potential traffic impacts of the proposed Cornerstone Expansion 

residential development.  For purposes of the traffic impact study, three developments are included: 

Cornerstone, Thunder Ridge, and Turner Tract.  

• Thunder Ridge is an approved subdivision, with one constructed driveway along SR 9. Sixty-eight 

homes have been built and are occupied. 

• Cornerstone is an approved subdivision, with one permitted (not constructed) driveway along SR 

9. No homes have been built. 

• Turner Tract is a proposed subdivision (to be rezoned), with access provided via internal streets to 

both Thunder Ridge and Cornerstone 

The site is in the City of Dawsonville and located along the west side of State Route 9. Based on the concept 

plan exhibit (dated 04/12/2024) the +/-160-acre development will include up to a maximum of 550 

detached single-family homes. The concept plan (see Appendix B) for the development illustrates the 

proposed development and the two driveways along State Route 9. Two additional emergency-only access 

locations are proposed. One is a connection to J C Burt Road while the second is along SR 9 (Cornerstone 

site). For the purpose of this study, the two driveways along SR 9 were analyzed. State Route 9 is a two-lane 

roadway with a 45-mph posted speed limit in the area of the proposed development.  

For the purposes of the traffic study, the analysis included the expected completion (build-out) of the 

development by year 2030. This study performed an analysis of existing year traffic conditions and future 

traffic conditions at the proposed driveways and two study intersections (SR 9 at J C Burt Road / Perimeter 

Road, and SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive). The future conditions analysis was performed for the No-Build 

Conditions (background growth in traffic plus three nearby developments, which included Starlight 

Homes, Jenkins Tract, and Dawsonville Pointe) and Build Conditions (with the Cornerstone Expansion 

development). The traffic study was prepared per Georgia DOT requirements and the City of Dawsonville 

requirements. 

The project volumes were calculated based on the Institute of Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) Trip 

Generation Manual, Twelfth Edition. For the purposes of the traffic study, the analysis included 482 single 

family residential homes to be built. Since the Thunder Ridge subdivision has 68 existing occupied homes, 

the traffic impact study included traffic volume from the proposed 482 homes (550-68=482). The most 

applicable ITE land use (LU) code was LU 210 (Single-Family Detached Housing). The estimated total 

additional project volumes are 4,155 vehicles per day (2,078 entering and 2,077 exiting), 329 vehicles 

during the AM peak hour (89 entering and 240 exiting) and 409 vehicles during the PM peak hour (254 

entering and 155 exiting). 

The Cornerstone subdivision has a GDOT permit to construct the driveway along SR 9. The driveway will 

include constructing the northbound dedicated left-turn lane and southbound right-turn lane along SR 9, 

as well as a separate left-turn and right-turn lane exiting the site. Therefore, this traffic study did not included 

a review of Georgia DOT requirements for turn lanes at the site driveways along State Route 9. 

 



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   II 

The results for the existing year traffic analysis indicate that two of the study intersections are currently 

operating with an acceptable level of service during the AM and PM peak hours. The study intersection of 

SR 9 at J C Burt Road/Perimeter Road is currently operating at a poor level of service F for the stop-

control approach of Perimeter Road during the AM peak hour; however, operating at an acceptable level 

of service C during the PM peak hour. A low level of service is not uncommon at stop-control approaches 

that intersect cross streets with high through volumes during the peak hour. 

The results for the future year 2030 No-Build Conditions (without the Cornerstone Expansion 

development) indicate two of the study intersections are expected to continue operating with an 

acceptable level of service during the AM and PM peak hours. The study intersection of SR 9 at J C Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road is expected to continue operating at a very poor level of service F for the stop-

control approach of Perimeter Road during the AM peak hour and level of service F during the PM peak 

hour. Additionally, the JC Burt Road stop-control approach is expected to reach level of service F during 

the AM peak hour. 

The results for the future year 2030 Build Conditions (with the Cornerstone Expansion development) 

indicate three of the study intersections are expected to operate at acceptable levels of service during the 

PM peak hours. During the AM peak hour, the stop-control approaches at three study intersections are 

expected to operate at a low level of service F. A low level of service is not uncommon at stop-control 

approaches that intersect cross streets with high through volumes during the peak hour. 

Recommendations 

Since the two development driveways along SR 9 have been permitted and Thunder Valley is open to 

traffic, no additional recommendations are provided at these locations (SR 9 at Thunder Valley, SR 9 at 

Cornerstone Subdivision entrance). The two driveways for the Cornerstone Expansion development, with 

the previously determined driveway geometry, are expected to operate at acceptable levels of service 

during the PM peak hour and are expected to operate at a low level of service during the AM peak hour in 

the analysis year 2030.  

The traffic impact study identified the following at the two site driveways: 

• SR 9 at Thunder Valley: 

o No changes to the existing driveway 

• SR 9 at Cornerstone Subdivision Driveway: 

o No changes to the permitted driveway  

The study intersection of SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive is expected to operate acceptably in the analysis year 

2030; therefore, there are no recommended improvements. 

At the study intersection of SR 9 at JC Burt Road/Perimeter Road, the future year 2030 No-Build 

conditions identified the westbound approach (stop-control) of Perimeter Road will operate with a very 

poor level of service during the AM peak hour; however, an acceptable level of service during the PM 

peak hour. 

An analysis was performed to identify a potential improvement to mitigate the high average vehicle delay. 

Previous traffic impact studies for developments, including the Starlight Homes report, identified the 



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   III 

addition of a westbound right-turn lane along Perimeter Road would improve operations as well as the 

option to install a traffic signal. Previous traffic impact studies have also considered adding a northbound 

right-turn lane due to the high volume movement. The addition of two right-turn lanes was first analyzed; 

however, determined this would not reduce the delay to an acceptable range for the Perimeter Road 

westbound approach. 

Capacity analysis was performed for the year 2030 No-Build volumes with the addition of traffic signal 

control and two right-turn lanes. With traffic signal control, the intersection is expected to operate with 

acceptable levels of service during the AM and PM peak hours. This mitigation is considered a “system 

improvement” and needed independent of the proposed development.  

A preliminary MUTCD traffic signal warrant analysis using peak hour traffic data was conducted. The 

projected year 2030 No-Build intersection turning volumes satisfy meet volume warrants for the AM and 

PM peak hour. While two peak hours meet the MUTCD volume warrants, additional hours throughout the 

day would need to meet volume warrants for GDOT to support the installation of a traffic signal. 

The year 2030 Build Conditions (includes the No-Build traffic volumes, the No-Build Improvements, plus 

the Cornerstone Expansion development volumes), indicates the study intersection is expected to operate 

at acceptable levels of service during the AM and PM peak hours. 

The City of Dawsonville or GDOT may choose to further evaluate additional mitigation options, as this 

report includes a limited evaluation. Additionally, the planned GDOT project PI 0014122 concept layout 

proposes to construct a roundabout at the intersection of SR 9 at Perimeter Road. 

City of Dawsonville - Traffic Assessment 

Additionally, the traffic impact study addressed components per the City of Dawsonville’s UDC, Tier 2 

Traffic Assessment, including vehicular traffic impacts. The study intersections were identified by the City 

of Dawsonville staff based on proximity to the development site. The previous discussion identified a 

“system improvement” is expected to be needed at the study intersection of SR 9 at JC Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road. No additional mitigation measures were identified at the other three study 

intersections along SR 9. The two access driveways for the development are expected to be orderly and 

provide safe ingress and egress to the site. Based on the number of homes in the development, providing 

two access driveways and two emergency access locations is expected to provide acceptable operations 

on a typical day and redundant access during an emergency event (in the case of a closed 

street/entrance).  

The existing pedestrian network consists of a sidewalk along SR 9 along the site frontage of the Thunder 

Ridge subdivision. There are no sidewalks along the east side of SR 9. The development will provide 

pedestrian access and connections to the existing pedestrian network at the two site driveways.  

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   IV 

Table of Contents 

1. Existing Conditions 1 

1.1 Site Conditions 1 

1.2 Roadway Conditions 1 

1.3 Traffic Volumes 1 

2. Future Conditions 2 

2.1 Future No-Build Traffic Volumes 2 

2.2 Future Roadway Conditions 2 

3. Proposed Development Traffic 3 

3.1 Trip Generation 3 

3.2 Trip Distribution and Assignment 3 

3.3 Future Build Traffic Volumes 3 

4. Capacity Analysis 4 

4.1 Existing Conditions Capacity Analysis 5 

4.2 No Build Conditions Capacity Analysis 5 

4.3 No-Build with Improvements Capacity Analysis 6 

4.4 Build Conditions Capacity Analysis 7 

5. Recommendations 8 

5.1 Recommendations at Study Intersection 8 

 

 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   V 

Tables 

Table 1: Proposed Site Trip Generation………………………………………………………………………………………………………..3 

Table 2: Level of Service Criteria……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……4 

Table 3: Existing Year (2025) Level of Service………………………………………………………………………………………………5 

Table 4: No Build Year (2030) Build Level of Service………………………..………………………………………………………….5 

Table 5: No Build Year (2030) with Improvements Level of Service…………………………………………………………….6 

Table 6: Build Year (2030) Level of Service…………………………………………………………………………………………………..7 

 

Appendix 

A: Figures  

Figure 1 – Location Map 

Figure 2 – Aerial & Access Locations 

Figure 3 – Existing (Year 2025) Traffic Conditions 

Figure 4 – No-Build (Year 2030) Traffic Conditions 

Figure 5 – Build (Year 2030) Traffic Conditions 

B: Concept Plan 

C: Traffic Count Data 

D: GDOT Traffic Data 

E: Intersection Volume Development 

F: Capacity Analysis Reports 

G: Traffic Signal Warrants Analysis 

 

 



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   1 

1. Existing Conditions 

1.1 Site Conditions 

The proposed development was located on undeveloped property. Figure 1 provides a general location 

map. Figure 2 is an aerial that shows the site location and the driveway locations along State Route 9. 

(Figures included in Appendix A) Access to the property is proposed to be provided at two driveways 

along State Route 9. Two additional emergency-only access locations are proposed. One is a connection 

to J C Burt Road while the second is along SR 9 (Cornerstone). (The site plan is included in Appendix B). 

The proposed development will be residential and is surrounded by primarily residential and agricultural 

uses. 

1.2 Roadway Conditions 

State Route 9 is a two-lane roadway with a 45mph posted speed limit in the area of the proposed 

development. State Route 9 is a north-south oriented roadway in the vicinity of the development.  

Georgia DOT classifies State Route 9 as a major collector. The roadway has grassed, rural shoulders, with 

no sidewalks; although there is a sidewalk along SR 9 along the site frontage of the Thunder Ridge 

subdivision. 

1.3 Traffic Volumes 

Traffic counts were collected on Thursday, August 14, 2025, for use in the traffic analysis. Dawson County 

public schools were in session. The traffic data collected included: 

• Intersection turning movement counts (7-9AM and 4-6PM) 

1. SR 9 at J C Burt Road / Perimeter Road 

2. SR 9 at Thunder Valley (Thunder Ridge Subdivision entrance) 

3. SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive 

• The data indicated the AM peak hour was 7:00-8:00AM and the PM peak hour was 4:45-5:45 PM 

at Thunder Valley and Mill Creek Drive; the PM peak hour was 5:00-6:00 PM at Perimeter Road. 

Historical traffic volume data available from the GDOT TADA source were utilized to inform the annual 

growth factor. The two locations are indicated in Appendix D. The two locations are: 

• GDOT Count Station #085-0103 located on SR 9, just south of Mill Creek Dr  

• GDOT Count Station #085-0105 located on SR 9, just north of Perimeter Rd  

Figure 3 (in Appendix A) illustrates the existing 2025 traffic volumes collected on August 14, 2025. These 

volumes were used in the traffic analysis. The traffic counts are included in the Appendix C. The 2025 

traffic volumes are indicated in the Intersection Volume Development table included in the Appendix E. 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   2 

2. Future Conditions 

2.1 Future No-Build Traffic Volumes 

Future traffic volumes on State Route 9 were developed by reviewing the historical traffic volumes 

roadways within the vicinity of the project and historic population growth in the county. Two GDOT count 

stations in the area were reviewed. The annual historic compound growth rate was 5.2%, and 4.2% at the 

two GDOT count stations. The calculations are included in Appendix D. Dawson County’s population 

growth rate was most recently reported as 5.11% percent per year in 2023. Over the past five years the 

population growth rate has been in the range of 5.18% per year to 6.37% per year. After reviewing this 

information, a 4.0% per year growth rate to account for background traffic volume growth was used in the 

traffic study.  

For the purposes of this study the proposed development is expected to be completed and opened by 

2030. A 4.0% per year growth rate was applied to the 2025 volumes to calculate the future traffic volumes.  

In addition to the annual growth rate, project trips were added from three known residential 

developments in the area (listed below). The project trips from the traffic impact study reports prepared 

for these developments were added at the study intersections as appropriate. In some cases project trips 

were assumed to continue to the study intersections included in the study network. The three 

developments were: 

• Starlight Homes, residential development on SR 9 to the south of the site 

• Jenkins Tract, residential development on SR 9 to the north of the site 

• Dawsonville Pointe, residential development on SR 53 to the north of the site 

Figure 4 (in Appendix A) illustrates the year 2030 No-Build traffic volumes. 

2.2 Future Roadway Conditions 

A review of Georgia DOT planned and programmed transportation projects was performed. There are no 

near term projects near the development; however, there are two long range projects. 

 Long-Range Projects:  

1. Project Name: SR 9 passing lanes from Thompson Rd to Jenkins Rd. GDOT project PI# 0003627. 

This long-range project is programmed in year 2051 as a reconstruction/rehabilitation of State 

Route 9. 

2. Project Name: New Construction Southwest of the Dawsonville Bypass from SR 9 to SR 53. GDOT 

project PI# 0014122. This long-range project indicates construction programmed in year 2034. The 

project would construct a new two-lane bypass road along the southwest side of Dawsonville 

connecting SR 53 to SR 9. The project concept layout includes constructing a roundabout at the 

intersection of SR 9 at Perimeter Road.  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   3 

3. Proposed Development Traffic 

Project traffic was calculated for the proposed development.  Project traffic is defined as the vehicular trips 

expected to be generated by the development and distributed over the roadway network. 

3.1 Trip Generation 

The project driveway volumes were calculated based on the Institute of Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) 

Trip Generation Manual, Twelfth Edition. The development will include up to 482 single-family residential 

homes. For the purposes of the traffic study, ITE land use code 210 (Single-Family Detached) was used.  

Since this is a residential development, no pass-by reductions or internal capture rates were included. 

Table 1 below summarizes the trips expected daily, during the AM peak hour, and during the PM peak 

hour for the development.  

Table 1: Proposed Site Trip Generation 

Land Use (ITE Code) Units 

Daily Trips AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Two-Way 

Total 
Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Single-Family Detached (210) 482 4,155 89 240 329 254 155 409 

3.2 Trip Distribution and Assignment 

An overall trip distribution and assignment of project trips was based on existing traffic patterns, the 

directional volumes along SR 9, and a review of land uses and the street network in the area. This 

information was used to apply the project traffic volumes at the development driveways.  

The directional distribution for the proposed development is estimated to be: 

• 65% to/from the south along SR 9  

• 10% to/from the north along SR 9 

• 25% to/from the west along Perimeter Road 

3.3 Future Build Traffic Volumes 

The 2030 Future Build traffic volumes were calculated by adding the proposed development (Cornerstone 

Expansion) traffic volumes to the projected year 2030 No-Build traffic volumes. Figure 5 (in Appendix A) 

illustrates the year 2030 Build traffic volumes. 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   4 

4. Capacity Analysis 

Capacity analysis was performed at the study intersections for the weekday AM and PM peak hours.  

Intersection Level of Service (LOS) was calculated based on the methodologies contained in the Highway 

Capacity Manual, 7th Edition.  The Synchro Studio software, which utilizes the HCM 7th Edition 

methodology, was utilized to perform the analyses.   

Capacity is defined as the maximum number of vehicles that can pass over a particular road segment or 

through a particular intersection within a specified period under prevailing roadway, traffic, and control 

conditions.  Level of service (LOS) is used to describe the operating characteristics of a road segment or 

intersection in relation to its capacity.  LOS is defined as a qualitative measure that describes operational 

conditions and motorist’s perceptions. The Highway Capacity Manual defines six levels of service, LOS A 

through LOS F.  Level of service A indicates excellent operations with little delay to motorists, while level 

of service F indicates extremely long delay.  

Level of service for unsignalized intersections is calculated for the average control delay incurred for vehicles 

on the stop control approach, compared to the average control delay per vehicle for all approaches at a 

signalized intersection. Control delay for vehicles include initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, 

stopped delay, and final acceleration delay. Table 2 below indicates the relationship between delay and 

LOS for signalized and unsignalized intersections, respectively. Level-of-service “E” is typically considered 

to be the limit of acceptable delay. 

Several factors affect the controlled delay for unsignalized intersections, including the availability of gaps in 

the cross-street traffic, and acceptable gap time to make the movement from the stop position. For stop-

control intersections, LOS E and F exist when there are insufficient gaps in traffic, resulting in long delays. 

Low level of service for stop-control approaches are not uncommon at major cross-streets. 

Table 2: Level of Service Criteria 

Level of Service 
Average Control Delay Per Vehicle (sec) 

Signalized Intersection Unsignalized Intersection 

A ≤10 ≤10 

B >10 and ≤20 >10 and ≤15 

C >20 and ≤35 >15 and ≤25 

D >35 and ≤55 >25 and ≤35 

E >55 and ≤80 >35 and ≤50 

F >80 >50 

 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   5 

4.1 Existing Conditions Capacity Analysis 

Capacity analysis was performed for the year 2025 Existing Conditions and includes existing traffic 

volumes at three study intersections. The existing traffic conditions and volumes are illustrated in Figure 

3. Table 3 summarizes the results of the existing capacity analysis.   

Table 3: Existing Year (2025) Level of Service 

Intersection 
Intersection 

Control 
Approach 

AM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

PM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

SR 9 at Thunder Valley  
Side-street 

stop-control 
EB – Thunder Valley D (26) B (13) 

SR 9 at J C Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road  

Side-street 

stop-control 

EB-J C Burt Road  D (33) C (15) 

WB-Perimeter Road  F (356) C (22) 

SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive  
Side-street 

stop-control 
WB-Mill Creek Drive  C (22) C (15) 

*Average vehicle delay in seconds  

Two of the study intersections are currently operating with an acceptable level of service during the AM 

and PM peak hours. The study intersection of SR 9 at J C Burt Road/Perimeter Road is currently operating 

at a poor level of service F for the stop-control approach of Perimeter Road during the AM peak hour; 

however, operating at an acceptable level of service C during the PM peak hour. A low level of service is 

not uncommon at stop-control approaches that intersect cross streets with high through volumes during 

the peak hour. 

4.2 No Build Conditions Capacity Analysis 

Capacity analysis was performed for the year 2030 Future Conditions and includes the No-Build traffic 

volumes and existing geometric conditions. Figure 4 (in Appendix A) illustrates the year 2030 No-Build 

traffic volumes. Table 4 summarizes the results of the capacity analysis.  

Table 4: No Build Year (2030) Level of Service 

Intersection 
Intersection 

Control 
Approach 

AM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

PM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

SR 9 at Thunder Valley  
Side-street 

stop-control 
EB – Thunder Valley D (26) C (15) 

SR 9 at J C Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road  

Side-street 

stop-control 

EB - J C Burt Road  F (141) C (21) 

WB - Perimeter Road  F (**) F (65) 

SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive  
Side-street 

stop-control 
WB - Mill Creek Drive  E (38) C (21) 

*Average vehicle delay in seconds  

**Average vehicle delay exceeds 400s 

By the year 2030 No Build conditions, two of the study intersections are expected to continue operating 

with an acceptable level of service during the AM and PM peak hours. The study intersection of SR 9 at J C 

Burt Road/Perimeter Road is expected to continue operating at a very poor level of service F for the stop-

control approach of Perimeter Road during the AM peak hour and level of service F during the PM peak 



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   6 

hour. Additionally, the JC Burt Road stop-control approach is expected to reach level of service F during 

the AM peak hour. 

4.3 No-Build with Improvements Capacity Analysis 

Since the study intersection of SR 9 at JC Burt Road/Perimeter Road has a LOS F during the AM peak hour 

in the No-build conditions, an analysis was performed to identify a potential improvement to mitigate the 

average vehicle delay. Previous traffic impact studies for developments, including the Starlight Homes 

report, identified the addition of a westbound right-turn lane along Perimeter Road would improve 

operations as well as the option to install a traffic signal. Previous traffic impact studies have also 

considered adding a northbound right-turn lane due to the high volume movement. 

The addition of two right-turn lanes was first analyzed; however, determined this would not reduce the 

delay to an acceptable range for the Perimeter Road westbound approach. Therefore, a preliminary 

MUTCD traffic signal warrant analysis using peak hour traffic data was conducted (results in Appendix G). 

The projected year 2030 No-Build intersection turning volumes satisfy meet volume warrants for the AM 

and PM peak hour. While two peak hours meet the MUTCD volume warrants, additional hours throughout 

the day would need to meet volume warrants for GDOT to support the installation of a traffic signal. In 

combination with installing a traffic signal, the addition of the two right-turn lanes is recommended to 

improve traffic operations.  

Table 5 summarizes the results of the capacity analysis with the addition of traffic signal control and two 

right-turn lanes. The study intersection is expected to operate with acceptable levels of service during the 

AM and PM peak hours. This mitigation is considered a “system improvement” and needed independent 

of the proposed development. 

Table 5: No Build Year (2030) with Improvements Level of Service 

Intersection 
Intersection 

Control 
Approach 

AM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

PM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

SR 9 at J C Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road  
Traffic Signal 

Overall B (19) B (11) 

EB-J C Burt Road  D (44) D (50) 

WB-Perimeter Road  D (55) E (56) 

*Average vehicle delay in seconds 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   7 

4.4 Build Conditions Capacity Analysis 

Capacity analysis was performed for the year 2030 Future Build Conditions and includes the No-Build traffic 

volumes, the No-Build with Improvements traffic conditions, plus the Cornerstone Expansion development 

volumes. The Build Conditions analysis also includes the proposed Cornerstone Subdivision Entrance. The 

Build traffic conditions and volumes are illustrated in Figure 6. Table 6 summarizes the results of the 

capacity analysis.  

Table 6: Build Year (2030) Level of Service 

Intersection 
Intersection 

Control 
Approach 

AM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

PM Peak Hour  

LOS (Delay*) 

SR 9 at Thunder Valley  
Side-street 

stop-control 
EB – Thunder Valley F (171) C (23) 

SR 9 at J C Burt 

Road/Perimeter Road  
Traffic Signal 

Overall C (21) B (14) 

EB-J C Burt Road  D (42) D (44) 

WB-Perimeter Road  E (56) D (53) 

SR 9 at Cornerstone 

Subdivision Entrance  

Side-street 

stop-control 
EB-Driveway E (44) C (16) 

SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive  
Side-street 

stop-control 
WB-Mill Creek Drive  F (58) D (29) 

*Average vehicle delay in seconds 

By the year 2030 Build Conditions, the four study intersections are expected to operate at acceptable 

levels of service during the PM peak hours. During the AM peak hour, the stop-control approaches at 

three study intersections are expected to operate at a low level of service F. A low level of service is not 

uncommon at stop-control approaches that intersect cross streets with high through volumes during the 

peak hour. 

The study intersection of SR 9 at JC Burt Road/Perimeter Road, with the No-Build Improvements, is 

expected to operate at acceptable levels of service during the AM and PM peak hours. 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

   8 

5. Recommendations 

Since the two development driveways along SR 9 have been permitted and Thunder Valley is open to 

traffic, no additional recommendations are provided at these locations (SR 9 at Thunder Valley, SR 9 at 

Cornerstone Subdivision entrance). The two driveways for the Cornerstone Expansion development, with 

the previously determined driveway geometry, are expected to operate at acceptable levels of service 

during the PM peak hour and are expected to operate at a low level of service during the AM peak hour in 

the analysis year 2030. Based on the number of homes in the development, providing two access 

driveways and two emergency access locations is expected to provide acceptable operations on a typical 

day and redundant access during an emergency event (in the case of a closed street/entrance).  

The study intersection of SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive is expected to operate acceptably in the analysis year 

2030; therefore, there are no recommended improvements. 

5.1 Recommendations at Study Intersection 

At the study intersection of SR 9 at JC Burt Road/Perimeter Road, the future year 2030 No-Build 

conditions identified the westbound approach (stop-control) of Perimeter Road will operate with a very 

poor level of service during the AM peak hour; however, an acceptable level of service during the PM 

peak hour. 

An analysis was performed to identify a potential improvement to mitigate the high average vehicle delay. 

Capacity analysis was performed for the year 2030 No-Build volumes with the addition of traffic signal 

control and two right-turn lanes. With traffic signal control, the intersection is expected to operate with 

acceptable levels of service during the AM and PM peak hours. This mitigation is considered a “system 

improvement” and needed independent of the proposed development.  

A preliminary MUTCD traffic signal warrant analysis using peak hour traffic data was conducted. The 

projected year 2030 No-Build intersection turning volumes satisfy meet volume warrants for the AM and 

PM peak hour. While two peak hours meet the MUTCD volume warrants, additional hours throughout the 

day would need to meet volume warrants for GDOT to support the installation of a traffic signal. 

The year 2030 Build Conditions (includes the No-Build traffic volumes, the No-Build Improvements, plus 

the Cornerstone Expansion development volumes), indicates the study intersection is expected to operate 

at acceptable levels of service during the AM and PM peak hours. 

The City of Dawsonville or GDOT may choose to further evaluate additional mitigation options, as this 

report includes a limited evaluation. Additionally, the planned GDOT project PI 0014122 concept layout 

proposes to construct a roundabout at the intersection of SR 9 at Perimeter Road. 

 

 

 

 



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

Appendices 

• Appendix A

o Figures

• Appendix B

o Concept Plan

• Appendix C

o Traffic Count Data

• Appendix D

o GDOT Traffic Data

• Appendix E

o Intersection Volume Development

• Appendix F

o Capacity Analysis Reports

• Appendix G

o Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Figures 

  



Figure

1

Location

Map

Not to Scale

Study Intersection #3

Study Intersection #2

Study Intersection #1

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion 

City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Use GDOT 

website, then 

topographic  

map

Use GDOT 

website, the 

‘open 

streets/map’

Development

Site



Figure

2

Aerial & 

Access 

Locations

Chattahoochee 

Elementary 

School

Use google 

earth app Not to Scale

Legend:

Study Intersection

Not to Scale

Existing 

Driveway 

Location 

– to remain

Dwy #3

Dwy #1

Dwy #2

Driveway

OLD

NEW

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion 

City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Perimeter Road 

Development

Site

Driveway # 1 at 

Thunder Valley  

Driveway # 2 at 

Cornerstone 

Subdivision 

Entrance  

Emergency 

Access Only at J 

C Burt Road 



Figure

3

Chattahoochee 

Elementary 

School

Use google 

earth app Not to Scale

Existing 

Driveway 

Location 

– to remain

50

15 20

Existing 

(Year 2025)

Traffic Conditions

Dwy #4 Dwy #3

Dwy #1

Dwy #2

5 0

15 0

50 45

40 50

5 5

35 45

65 40

0 60

15 020 0

Development

Site

XX     AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

(XX)    PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

Existing Roadway Laneage 

LEGEND:

175

(273)

0(0
) 2019 ADT

553 vpd 

Site

529

(378)

702

(302)

2021 ADT

6,835 vpd 

Driveway #2 at Cornerstone 

Subdivision Entrance 
S

ta
te

 R
o
u
te

 9

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion 

City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Driveway #1 at Thunder Valley 

J C Burt Road

Perimeter Road

Mill Creek Dr

7 (3)

0 (0)

7 (6)

1
 (6

)

7
0

1
 (3

0
1

)

4
 (4

)

3
7

2
 (5

2
8

)

15 (7)

21 (9)

6
8

1
 (2

9
3

)

6
 (1

0
)

3
7
5
 (5

1
8
)

3
 (1

1
)

2
1

 (1
0

)

5
4

8
 (2

2
2

)

1
 (8

)

2
0

3
 (1

5
4

)

1
9

9
 (3

9
3

)

4
 (8

)

4 (2)

25 (14)

19 (7)

12 (25)

3 (23)

114 (77)



Figure

4

Chattahoochee 

Elementary 

School

Use google 

earth app 

50

15 20

Dwy #4 Dwy #3

Dwy #1

Dwy #2

5 0

15 0

50 45

40 50

5 5

35 45

65 40

0 60

15 020 0

Development

Site

175

(273)

0(0
) 2019 ADT

553 vpd 

No-Build 

(Year 2030)

Traffic Conditions

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion 

City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Not to Scale

XX     AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

(XX)    PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

Existing Roadway Laneage 

LEGEND:

Site

6
9

9
 (5

2
1

)

9
0

7
 (4

4
4

)

Driveway #2 at Cornerstone 

Subdivision Entrance 

S
ta

te
 R

o
u
te

 9

Driveway #1 at Thunder Valley 

J C Burt Road

Perimeter Road

Mill Creek Dr

9 (4)

0 (0)

9 (7)

1
 (7

)

9
0
6
 (4

4
3
)

5
 (5

)

5
0

8
 (7

0
3

)

18 (9)

26 (11)

8
8

2
 (3

5
6

)

7
 (1

2
)

5
1

1
 (6

3
0

)

4
 (1

3
)

4
4
 (1

2
)

7
2

0
 (3

4
7

)

1
 (1

0
)

2
4

7
 (1

8
7

)

2
9

7
 (5

3
9

)

5
 (1

0
)

5 (2)

30 (17)

23 (9)

22 (52)

4 (28)

139 (94)No-Build Roadway Laneage 

No-Build Improvements 

identified at the 

intersection include 

adding the traffic signal 

and two right-turn lanes



Figure

5

Chattahoochee 

Elementary 

School

Use google 

earth app 

Existing 

Driveway 

Location 

– to remain

50

15 20

Dwy #4 Dwy #3

Dwy #1

Dwy #2

5 0

15 0

50 45

40 50

5 5

35 45

65 40

0 60

15 020 0

Development

Site

175

(273)

0(0
) 2019 ADT

553 vpd 

Build 

(Year 2030)

Traffic Conditions

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion 

City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Not to Scale

XX     AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

(XX)    PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

Existing Roadway Laneage 

LEGEND:

Site

7
1

2
 (5

5
9

)

4
5

 (1
2

7
)

9
5

5
 (4

7
5

)

4
 (1

3
)

Driveway #2 at Cornerstone 

Subdivision Entrance 

S
ta

te
 R

o
u
te

 9

Driveway #1 at Thunder Valley 

J C Burt Road

Perimeter Road

Mill Creek Dr

9 (4)

0 (0)

9 (7)

1
 (7

)

1
,0

6
2
 (5

4
4
)

5
 (5

)

5
6

6
 (8

6
8

)

78 (48)

74 (42)

8
8

6
 (3

6
9

)

3
4

 (8
8

)

5
3

5
 (6

4
6

)

1
7

 (5
1

)

4
4
 (1

2
)

7
2

9
 (3

7
2

)

1
 (1

0
)

3
0

7
 (2

2
6

)

3
2

1
 (5

5
5

)

5
 (1

0
)

5 (2)

30 (17)

23 (9)

22 (52)

4 (28)

161 (158)

24 (16)

108 (70)

No-Build Roadway Laneage 

Build Roadway Laneage 

No-Build Improvements 

identified at the 

intersection include 

adding the traffic signal 

and two right-turn lanes



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Concept Plan 

  



•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

••••

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•

••
•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
••••

•••••
••••

••
••

•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

• • •
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

• • •

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

• • •
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•

• • •

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

1617181920212223242526

35 36 37 38

41

42

43

44

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54
55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

7172
73

74

75

76

77
78

79
80 81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93
94

95
96

9798

99

100

101

102

113

114

115

116

117

118

119

120
121122123124125126

127128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141
142

143
144 145 146 147 148 149 150

151

152

153

154

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163 164

165

166

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

174

175

176
177 178 179

180
181

182
183

184

185

186

187

188

189
190

191

192 193 194 195

196

197

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208209

210

211

212

213

214

215

216

217

218

219

27

2829
30

31

39

40
45

46

32

33 34

O
H
P

O
H
P

x x x x
x

x
x

x

O
H
P

O
H
P

O
H
P

O
H
P

1
23456789

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
27 28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38 39 40
16

1112
1314

15

17

18

19

41

10

50
51

42 43 44

66
67

68

69 70 71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84
47

48
49

52

53 54
55

56

575859
60

45
46

61

62

63

64

65

85
86

150

151

152

153

154

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162 163

164

165

166

167

168

169

170

172173

174

176
177

178

179

180

181

183
184

185

186

187

188

189

190

191

192

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

18

19

20

2122

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

17

175

171

182

199

44

45

46

4748

49

52

53

54

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

6768
69

70
71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78
79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93
94

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107 108 109
110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118

119

120

121

122

123

124

125

126
127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

137

138

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

193

194

195

196

197

198

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

210

211

212

213

214

215

216

217

51

50

95

96

55

56

57

58

218

219

220

221

222

223
224 225

226 227
228

229

230

231
234

235

236

237

232
233

238

209 136

OWNER/DEVELOPER:

B&K TURNER FAMILY LLP
1090 OAKHAVEN DR.
ROSWELL, GA 30075
PHONE:  678-570-0469
EMAIL:
allenstreetproperties@gmail.com
24-HOUR CONTACT:

THUNDER RIDGE
- TURNER TRACT

----
----
EMAIL: ----

PROJECT:

SHEET REVISIONS

LOCATED IN:
LAND LOTS 584

4th DISTRICT, 1st SECTION
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE,

GEORGIA

SHEET TITLE:

STAMP:

DRAWING DATE: 2024-11-21

SHEET:

4224 Sweetwater Juno Road
Dawsonville, GA  30534
Mobile: 770-597-8813
Contact: Corey Gutherie, PE
Email: Corey.Gutherie@ensiteconsulting.com

E N S I T E
%I8I. %1NS7.TIN)� ..%

FOR

REVIE
W

ONLY

DESCRIPTION DATENO.

below.
before you dig.Call

R

Utilities Protection Center, Inc.
Know what's

1-800-282-7411

GRAPHIC SCALE  -  1 inch =       feet200

EXHIBIT

1 of 1



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

Traffic Count Data 

  



Project ID: 25-180207-002 7:00 AM 8:45 AM

Location: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Day:

City: Dawsonville Date: 4:00 PM 5:45 PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 1 93 0 0 0 94 0 208 1 0 0 209 2 0 6 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 311

7:15 AM 2 127 0 0 0 129 0 226 1 0 0 227 8 0 4 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 368

7:30 AM 0 89 0 0 0 89 0 146 4 0 0 150 5 0 4 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 248

7:45 AM 0 66 0 0 0 66 0 101 0 0 0 101 0 0 7 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 174

Total 3 375 0 0 0 378 0 681 6 0 0 687 15 0 21 0 0 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 1101

8:00 AM 2 57 0 0 0 59 0 96 1 0 0 97 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 157

8:15 AM 0 40 0 0 0 40 0 60 2 0 0 62 2 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 106

8:30 AM 2 39 0 0 0 41 0 63 1 0 0 64 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 106

8:45 AM 2 69 0 0 0 71 0 54 2 0 0 56 1 0 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 130

Total 6 205 0 0 0 211 0 273 6 0 0 279 4 0 5 0 2 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 499

***BREAK***

4:00 PM 5 90 0 0 0 95 0 79 1 0 0 80 2 0 4 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 181

4:15 PM 2 92 0 0 0 94 0 50 1 0 0 51 1 0 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 148

4:30 PM 2 120 0 0 0 122 0 87 4 0 0 91 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 215

4:45 PM 4 112 0 0 0 116 0 83 2 0 0 85 2 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 204

Total 13 414 0 0 0 427 0 299 8 0 0 307 5 0 9 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 748

5:00 PM 4 115 0 0 0 119 0 78 4 0 0 82 2 0 3 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 206

5:15 PM 1 140 0 0 0 141 0 64 2 1 0 67 1 0 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 212

5:30 PM 2 151 0 0 0 153 0 68 2 0 0 70 2 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 227

5:45 PM 3 126 0 0 0 129 0 62 3 0 0 65 2 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 197

Total 10 532 0 0 0 542 0 272 11 1 0 284 7 0 9 0 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 842

Grand Total 32 1526 0 0 0 1558 0 1525 31 1 0 1557 31 0 44 0 2 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 3190

Apprch % 2.1 97.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 97.9 2.0 0.1 0.0 41.3 0.0 58.7 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total % 1.0 47.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 48.8 0.0 47.8 1.0 0.0 0.0 48.8 1.0 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.1 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cars, PU, Vans 31 1460 0 0 1491 0 1462 30 1 1493 30 0 43 0 73 0 0 0 0 0 3057

% Cars, PU, Vans 96.9 95.7 0.0 0.0 95.7 0.0 95.9 96.8 100.0 95.9 96.8 0.0 97.7 0.0 97.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 95.8

Heavy trucks 1 66 0 0 67 0 63 1 0 64 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 133

%Heavy trucks 3.1 4.3 0.0 0.0 4.3 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 4.1 3.2 0.0 2.3 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.2

Project ID: 25-180207-002

Location: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Day:

City: Dawsonville Date:

AM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 07:00 AM - 09:00 AM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:00 AM

7:00 AM 1 93 0 0 94 0 208 1 0 209 2 0 6 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 311

7:15 AM 2 127 0 0 129 0 226 1 0 227 8 0 4 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 368

7:30 AM 0 89 0 0 89 0 146 4 0 150 5 0 4 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 248

7:45 AM 0 66 0 0 66 0 101 0 0 101 0 0 7 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 174

Total Volume 3 375 0 0 378 0 681 6 0 687 15 0 21 0 36 0 0 0 0 0 1101

% App. Total 0.8 99.2 0.0 0.0 100 0.0 99.1 0.9 0.0 100 41.7 0.0 58.3 0.0 100 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0

PHF 0.733 0.757 0.750 0.748

Cars, PU, Vans 3 344 0 0 347 0 643 6 0 649 15 0 21 0 36 0 0 0 0 0 1032

% Cars, PU, Vans 100.0 91.7 0.0 0.0 91.8 0.0 94.4 100.0 0.0 94.5 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 93.7

Heavy trucks 0 31 0 0 31 0 38 0 0 38 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 69

%Heavy trucks 0.0 8.3 0.0 0.0 8.2 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 5.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.3

PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

4:45 PM 4 112 0 0 116 0 83 2 0 85 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 204

5:00 PM 4 115 0 0 119 0 78 4 0 82 2 0 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 206

5:15 PM 1 140 0 0 141 0 64 2 1 67 1 0 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 212

5:30 PM 2 151 0 0 153 0 68 2 0 70 2 0 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 227

Total Volume 11 518 0 0 529 0 293 10 1 304 7 0 9 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 849

% App. Total 2.1 97.9 0.0 0.0 100 0.0 96.4 3.3 0.3 100 43.8 0.0 56.3 0.0 100 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0

PHF 0.864 0.894 0.800 0.935

Cars, PU, Vans 11 510 0 0 521 0 288 10 1 299 7 0 9 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 836

% Cars, PU, Vans 100.0 98.5 0.0 0.0 98.5 0.0 98.3 100.0 100.0 98.4 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 98.5

Heavy trucks 0 8 0 0 8 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13

%Heavy trucks 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5

Thursday

8/14/2025

Groups Printed - Cars, PU, Vans - Heavy Trucks

SR 9 SR 9 Thunder Valley Thunder Valley

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

PEAK HOURS
Thursday

8/14/2025

SR 9 SR 9 Thunder Valley Thunder Valley

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

SR 9 SR 9 Thunder Valley Thunder Valley

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound



Project ID: 25-180207-001 7:00 AM

Location: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Day:

City: Dawsonville Date: 4:00 PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 0 38 51 0 0 89 5 174 0 0 0 179 1 6 4 0 0 11 26 1 1 0 0 28 307

7:15 AM 0 59 83 0 0 142 7 192 1 0 0 200 2 7 7 0 0 16 26 1 4 0 0 31 389

7:30 AM 2 57 48 0 0 107 5 106 0 0 0 111 0 5 5 0 0 10 36 1 3 0 0 40 268

7:45 AM 2 45 21 0 0 68 4 76 0 0 0 80 1 7 3 0 0 11 26 0 4 0 0 30 189

Total 4 199 203 0 0 406 21 548 1 0 0 570 4 25 19 0 0 48 114 3 12 0 0 129 1153

8:00 AM 1 46 15 0 0 62 1 58 1 0 1 60 1 3 6 0 0 10 30 3 4 0 0 37 169

8:15 AM 0 26 13 0 0 39 1 42 1 0 0 44 0 3 2 0 0 5 12 1 2 0 0 15 103

8:30 AM 2 29 12 0 0 43 5 56 0 0 0 61 2 3 3 0 0 8 9 0 2 0 0 11 123

8:45 AM 0 53 17 0 0 70 3 50 1 0 1 54 0 3 1 0 0 4 10 1 2 0 0 13 141

Total 3 154 57 0 0 214 10 206 3 0 2 219 3 12 12 0 0 27 61 5 10 0 0 76 536

***BREAK***

4:00 PM 5 60 28 0 0 93 5 54 1 0 0 60 0 3 0 0 0 3 28 2 4 0 0 34 190

4:15 PM 2 65 26 0 0 93 5 39 1 0 0 45 1 1 1 0 0 3 17 1 4 0 0 22 163

4:30 PM 4 83 29 0 0 116 1 59 3 0 0 63 1 1 2 0 0 4 34 1 5 0 0 40 223

4:45 PM 3 75 30 0 0 108 3 60 3 0 0 66 0 0 5 0 0 5 20 6 5 0 0 31 210

Total 14 283 113 0 0 410 14 212 8 0 0 234 2 5 8 0 0 15 99 10 18 0 0 127 786

5:00 PM 3 86 37 0 0 126 4 68 2 0 0 74 0 3 0 0 0 3 23 6 5 0 0 34 237

5:15 PM 1 104 31 0 0 136 3 53 2 0 0 58 0 1 1 0 0 2 16 7 7 0 0 30 226

5:30 PM 4 112 40 0 0 156 0 47 1 0 0 48 1 4 2 0 0 7 22 6 5 0 0 33 244

5:45 PM 0 91 46 0 0 137 3 54 3 0 0 60 1 6 4 0 0 11 16 4 8 0 0 28 236

Total 8 393 154 0 0 555 10 222 8 0 0 240 2 14 7 0 0 23 77 23 25 0 0 125 943

Grand Total 29 1029 527 0 0 1585 55 1188 20 0 2 1263 11 56 46 0 0 113 351 41 65 0 0 457 3418

Apprch % 1.8 64.9 33.2 0.0 0.0 4.4 94.1 1.6 0.0 0.2 9.7 49.6 40.7 0.0 0.0 76.8 9.0 14.2 0.0 0.0

Total % 0.8 30.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 46.4 1.6 34.8 0.6 0.0 0.1 37.0 0.3 1.6 1.3 0.0 0.0 3.3 10.3 1.2 1.9 0.0 0.0 13.4

Cars, PU, Vans 28 980 506 0 1514 52 1135 20 0 1207 11 55 45 0 111 340 40 64 0 444 3276

% Cars, PU, Vans 96.6 95.2 96.0 0.0 95.5 94.5 95.5 100.0 0.0 95.6 100.0 98.2 97.8 0.0 98.2 96.9 97.6 98.5 0.0 97.2 95.8

Heavy trucks 1 49 21 0 71 3 53 0 0 56 0 1 1 0 2 11 1 1 0 13 142

%Heavy trucks 3.4 4.8 4.0 0.0 4.5 5.5 4.5 0.0 0.0 4.4 0.0 1.8 2.2 0.0 1.8 3.1 2.4 1.5 0.0 2.8 4.2

Project ID: 25-180207-001

Location: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Day:

City: Dawsonville Date:

AM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 07:00 AM - 09:00 AM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:00 AM

7:00 AM 0 38 51 0 89 5 174 0 0 179 1 6 4 0 11 26 1 1 0 28 307

7:15 AM 0 59 83 0 142 7 192 1 0 200 2 7 7 0 16 26 1 4 0 31 389

7:30 AM 2 57 48 0 107 5 106 0 0 111 0 5 5 0 10 36 1 3 0 40 268

7:45 AM 2 45 21 0 68 4 76 0 0 80 1 7 3 0 11 26 0 4 0 30 189

Total Volume 4 199 203 0 406 21 548 1 0 570 4 25 19 0 48 114 3 12 0 129 1153

% App. Total 1.0 49.0 50.0 0.0 100 3.7 96.1 0.2 0.0 100 8.3 52.1 39.6 0.0 100 88.4 2.3 9.3 0.0 100

PHF 0.715 0.713 0.750 0.806 0.741

Cars, PU, Vans 4 181 189 0 374 21 519 1 0 541 4 25 18 0 47 106 2 12 0 120 1082

% Cars, PU, Vans 100.0 91.0 93.1 0.0 92.1 100.0 94.7 100.0 0.0 94.9 100.0 100.0 94.7 0.0 97.9 93.0 66.7 100.0 0.0 93.0 93.8

Heavy trucks 0 18 14 0 32 0 29 0 0 29 0 0 1 0 1 8 1 0 0 9 71

%Heavy trucks 0.0 9.0 6.9 0.0 7.9 0.0 5.3 0.0 0.0 5.1 0.0 0.0 5.3 0.0 2.1 7.0 33.3 0.0 0.0 7.0 6.2

PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 05:00 PM

5:00 PM 3 86 37 0 126 4 68 2 0 74 0 3 0 0 3 23 6 5 0 34 237

5:15 PM 1 104 31 0 136 3 53 2 0 58 0 1 1 0 2 16 7 7 0 30 226

5:30 PM 4 112 40 0 156 0 47 1 0 48 1 4 2 0 7 22 6 5 0 33 244

5:45 PM 0 91 46 0 137 3 54 3 0 60 1 6 4 0 11 16 4 8 0 28 236

Total Volume 8 393 154 0 555 10 222 8 0 240 2 14 7 0 23 77 23 25 0 125 943

% App. Total 1.4 70.8 27.7 0.0 100 4.2 92.5 3.3 0.0 100 8.7 60.9 30.4 0.0 100 61.6 18.4 20.0 0.0 100

PHF 0.889 0.811 0.523 0.919 0.966

Cars, PU, Vans 8 388 153 0 549 9 219 8 0 236 2 14 7 0 23 76 23 25 0 124 932

% Cars, PU, Vans 100.0 98.7 99.4 0.0 98.9 90.0 98.6 100.0 0.0 98.3 100.0 100.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 98.7 100.0 100.0 0.0 99.2 98.8

Heavy trucks 0 5 1 0 6 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 11

%Heavy trucks 0.0 1.3 0.6 0.0 1.1 10.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 1.2

SR 9 SR 9 J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

SR 9 SR 9 J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

PEAK HOURS
Thursday

8/14/2025

Thursday

8/14/2025

Groups Printed - Cars, PU, Vans - Heavy Trucks

SR 9 SR 9 J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd



Project ID: 25-180207-003 7:00 AM 8:45 AM

Location: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Day:

City: Dawsonville Date: 4:00 PM 5:45 PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:00 AM 0 97 0 0 0 97 0 211 0 0 0 211 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 4 312

7:15 AM 0 127 1 0 0 128 1 225 0 0 0 226 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 6 360

7:30 AM 0 86 1 0 0 87 0 153 0 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 243

7:45 AM 0 62 2 0 0 64 0 112 0 0 0 112 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 177

Total 0 372 4 0 0 376 1 701 0 0 0 702 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 0 0 14 1092

8:00 AM 0 64 1 0 0 65 2 95 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 163

8:15 AM 0 36 1 0 0 37 0 58 0 0 0 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 3 98

8:30 AM 0 39 0 0 0 39 0 65 0 0 0 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104

8:45 AM 0 73 0 0 0 73 0 56 0 0 0 56 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 129

Total 0 212 2 0 0 214 2 274 0 0 0 276 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 4 494

***BREAK***

4:00 PM 0 96 0 0 0 96 0 85 0 0 0 85 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 181

4:15 PM 0 92 2 0 0 94 0 47 0 0 0 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 142

4:30 PM 0 123 2 0 0 125 1 89 0 0 0 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 217

4:45 PM 0 115 0 0 0 115 4 81 0 0 0 85 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200

Total 0 426 4 0 0 430 5 302 0 0 0 307 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3 740

5:00 PM 0 126 2 0 0 128 2 80 0 0 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 212

5:15 PM 0 135 2 0 0 137 0 68 0 0 0 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 3 208

5:30 PM 0 152 0 0 0 152 0 72 0 0 0 72 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 4 228

5:45 PM 0 129 3 0 0 132 4 59 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 196

Total 0 542 7 0 0 549 6 279 0 0 0 285 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 4 0 0 10 844

Grand Total 0 1552 17 0 0 1569 14 1556 0 0 0 1570 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 13 0 0 31 3170

Apprch % 0.0 98.9 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.9 99.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 58.1 0.0 41.9 0.0 0.0

Total % 0.0 49.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 49.5 0.4 49.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 49.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 1.0

Cars, PU, Vans 0 1486 16 0 1502 14 1491 0 0 1505 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 12 0 29 3036

% Cars, PU, Vans 0.0 95.7 94.1 0.0 95.7 100.0 95.8 0.0 0.0 95.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 94.4 0.0 92.3 0.0 93.5 95.8

Heavy trucks 0 66 1 0 67 0 65 0 0 65 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 134

%Heavy trucks 0.0 4.3 5.9 0.0 4.3 0.0 4.2 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 7.7 0.0 6.5 4.2

Project ID: 25-180207-003

Location: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Day:

City: Dawsonville Date:

AM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 07:00 AM - 09:00 AM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:00 AM

7:00 AM 0 97 0 0 97 0 211 0 0 211 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 4 312

7:15 AM 0 127 1 0 128 1 225 0 0 226 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 6 360

7:30 AM 0 86 1 0 87 0 153 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 243

7:45 AM 0 62 2 0 64 0 112 0 0 112 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 177

Total Volume 0 372 4 0 376 1 701 0 0 702 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 0 14 1092

% App. Total 0.0 98.9 1.1 0.0 100 0.1 99.9 0.0 0.0 100 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 50.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 100

PHF 0.734 0.777 0.583 0.758

Cars, PU, Vans 0 342 3 0 345 1 662 0 0 663 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 12 1020

% Cars, PU, Vans 0.0 91.9 75.0 0.0 91.8 100.0 94.4 0.0 0.0 94.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.7 0.0 85.7 0.0 85.7 93.4

Heavy trucks 0 30 1 0 31 0 39 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 72

%Heavy trucks 0.0 8.1 25.0 0.0 8.2 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.3 0.0 14.3 0.0 14.3 6.6

PM

Start Time Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Left Thru Rgt Uturn App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis from 04:00 PM - 06:00 PM

Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

4:45 PM 0 115 0 0 115 4 81 0 0 85 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200

5:00 PM 0 126 2 0 128 2 80 0 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 212

5:15 PM 0 135 2 0 137 0 68 0 0 68 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 208

5:30 PM 0 152 0 0 152 0 72 0 0 72 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 4 228

Total Volume 0 528 4 0 532 6 301 0 0 307 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 3 0 9 848

% App. Total 0.0 99.2 0.8 0.0 100 2.0 98.0 0.0 0.0 100 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 66.7 0.0 33.3 0.0 100

PHF 0.875 0.903 0.563 0.930

Cars, PU, Vans 0 521 4 0 525 6 296 0 0 302 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 3 0 9 836

% Cars, PU, Vans 0.0 98.7 100.0 0.0 98.7 100.0 98.3 0.0 0.0 98.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 98.6

Heavy trucks 0 7 0 0 7 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12

%Heavy trucks 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4

SR 9 SR 9 Mill Creek Dr Mill Creek Dr

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

SR 9 SR 9 Mill Creek Dr Mill Creek Dr

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

PEAK HOURS
Thursday

8/14/2025

Thursday

8/14/2025

Groups Printed - Cars, PU, Vans - Heavy Trucks

SR 9 SR 9 Mill Creek Dr Mill Creek Dr



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 

GDOT Traffic Data 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

Location Map of GDOT Count Stations 

 

 

  



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 



Count Station:

Street:

Location:

Source:

YEAR ADT TREND 15-Years of Count Data

2009 3484 3800 Trend Annual Historic Compound Growth Rate

2010 4000 5.20%

2011 4200

2012 4256 4400

2013 4600

2014 5335 4800

2015 5100

2016 6445 5400

2017 5600

2018 5694 5900

2019 6200

2020 5621 6500

2021 6900

2022 7197 7200

2023 7600

2024 8111 8000

2025 8400

2026 8800

2027 9200

2028 9700

2029 10200

2030 10700

2031 11200

2032 11800

2033 12400

2034 13000

2035 13700

GDOT #085-0103

SR 9

South of Mill Creek Dr

GDOT

y = 3E-40e0.0495x

R² = 0.8468

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

A
D

T

YEAR

9/15/2025



Count Station:

Street:

Location:

Source:

YEAR ADT TREND 16-Years of Count Data

2010 3858 3600 Trend Annual Historic Compound Growth Rate

2011 3554 3800 4.21%

2012 3900

2013 4349 4100

2014 4200

2015 4042 4400

2016 4600

2017 4800

2018 4921 5000

2019 5200

2020 5400

2021 5600

2022 5800

2023 6100

2024 6300

2025 6744 6600

2026 6800

2027 7100

2028 7400

2029 7700

2030 8000

2031 8300

2032 8700

2033 9000

2034 9400

2035 9800

2036 10200

2037 10600

GDOT #085-0105

SR 9

North of Perimeter Rd

GDOT

y = 6E-32e0.0398x

R² = 0.9492

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

A
D

T

YEAR

9/15/2025



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E 

Intersection Volume Development 

  



Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 3 375 681 6 15 21

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 4 11

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 8 28

Other: Starlight- Trips 43 14

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 4 511 0 0 0 882 7 18 0 26 0 0 0

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 15% 5% 30%

Trip Distribution OUT 10% 25% 20%

Residential Trips 0 13 24 0 0 0 4 27 60 0 48 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 13 24 0 0 0 4 27 60 0 48 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 17 535 0 0 0 886 34 78 0 74 0 0 0

Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 11 518 293 10 7 9

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 13 7

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 19 20

Other: Starlight- Trips 29 50

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 13 630 0 0 0 356 12 9 0 11 0 0 0

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 15% 5% 30%

Trip Distribution OUT 10% 25% 20%

Residential Trips 0 38 16 0 0 0 13 76 39 0 31 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 38 16 0 0 0 13 76 39 0 31 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 51 646 0 0 0 369 88 48 0 42 0 0 0

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion Development

Intersection Traffic Volumes

Intersection: #1 - SR 9 at Thunder Valley

A.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 Thunder Valley Driveway N/A

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

P.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 Thunder Valley Driveway N/A

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

9/15/2025



Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 4 199 203 21 548 1 4 25 19 114 3 12

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 4 11

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 8 18 28 7

Other: Starlight- Trips 43 14

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 5 297 247 0 44 720 1 5 30 23 139 4 22

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 10% 25%

Trip Distribution OUT 10% 25%

Residential Trips 0 0 24 60 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 22 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 0 24 60 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 22 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 5 321 307 0 44 729 1 5 30 23 161 4 22

Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 8 393 154 10 222 8 2 14 7 77 23 25

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 13 7

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 19 20 22

Other: Starlight- Trips 29 50

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 10 539 187 0 12 347 10 2 17 9 94 28 52

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 10% 25%

Trip Distribution OUT 10% 25%

Residential Trips 0 0 16 39 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 64 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 0 16 39 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 64 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 10 555 226 0 12 372 10 2 17 9 158 28 52

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion Development

Intersection Traffic Volumes

Intersection #2: SR 9 at Perimter Road / J C Burt Road

A.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 J C Burt Road Perimeter Road

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

P.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 J C Burt Road Perimeter Road

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

9/15/2025



Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R U-turn L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 529 702

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 4 11

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 8 28

Other: Starlight- Trips 43 14

No-Build Conditions (2030) 0 0 699 0 0 0 907 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 50% 15% 5%

Trip Distribution OUT 20% 10% 45%

Residential Trips 0 45 13 0 0 0 48 4 24 0 108 0 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 45 13 0 0 0 48 4 24 0 108 0 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 45 712 0 0 0 955 4 24 0 108 0 0 0 0

Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R U-turn L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 378 302

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 13 7

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 19 20

Other: Starlight- Trips 29 50

No-Build Conditions (2030) 0 0 521 0 0 0 444 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 50% 15% 5%

Trip Distribution OUT 20% 10% 45%

Residential Trips 0 127 38 0 0 0 31 13 16 0 70 0 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 127 38 0 0 0 31 13 16 0 70 0 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 127 559 0 0 0 475 13 16 0 70 0 0 0 0

P.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 Cornerstone Subdivision Entrance N/A

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

A.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 Cornerstone Subdivision Entrance N/A

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion Development

Intersection Traffic Volumes

Intersection #3: SR 9 at Cornerstone Subdivision Entrance 

9/15/2025



Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 0 372 4 1 701 0 0 0 0 7 0 7

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 4 11

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 8 28

Other: Starlight- Trips 43 14

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 0 508 5 0 1 906 0 0 0 0 9 0 9

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 65%

Trip Distribution OUT 65%

Residential Trips 0 0 58 0 0 0 156 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 0 58 0 0 0 156 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 0 566 5 0 1 1,062 0 0 0 0 9 0 9

Condition

U-turn L T R U-turn L T R L T R L T R

Existing Volumes (2025) 0 528 4 6 301 0 0 0 0 6 0 3

Annual Growth Rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Growth Factor 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217

Other: Dawsonville Pointe- Trips 13 7

Other: Jenkins Tract- Trips 19 20

Other: Starlight- Trips 29 50

No-Build Condition (2030) 0 0 703 5 0 7 443 0 0 0 0 7 0 4

Project Trips:

Trip Distribution IN 65%

Trip Distribution OUT 65%

Residential Trips 0 0 165 0 0 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Project Trips 0 0 165 0 0 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Buildout Total (2030) 0 0 868 5 0 7 544 0 0 0 0 7 0 4

P.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 N/A Mill Creek Drive 

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

A.M. PEAK HOUR

SR 9 SR 9 N/A Mill Creek Drive 

Traffic Impact Study

Cornerstone Expansion Development

Intersection Traffic Volumes

Intersection #4: SR 9 at Mill Creek Drive 

9/15/2025



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F 

Capacity Analysis Reports 

Existing Year 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 21 3 375 681 6
Future Vol, veh/h 15 21 3 375 681 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 75 75 75 75
Heavy Vehicles, % 6 6 6 6 6 6
Mvmt Flow 20 28 4 500 908 8

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1416 908 908 0 - 0
          Stage 1 908 - - - - -
          Stage 2 508 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.46 6.26 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.46 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.46 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.554 3.354 2.254 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 148 328 733 - - -
          Stage 1 387 - - - - -
          Stage 2 596 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 147 328 733 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 147 - - - - -
          Stage 1 385 - - - - -
          Stage 2 596 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 26.22 0.08 0
HCM LOS D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 733 - 217 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.005 - 0.221 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 9.9 - 26.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.8 - -



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 41.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 25 19 114 3 12 4 199 203 21 548 1
Future Vol, veh/h 4 25 19 114 3 12 4 199 203 21 548 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74
Heavy Vehicles, % 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Mvmt Flow 5 34 26 154 4 16 5 269 274 28 741 1

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1080 1352 741 1231 1216 406 742 0 0 543 0 0
          Stage 1 798 798 - 417 417 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 282 554 - 814 799 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.16 6.56 6.26 7.16 6.56 6.26 4.16 - - 4.16 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.16 5.56 - 6.16 5.56 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.16 5.56 - 6.16 5.56 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.554 4.054 3.354 3.554 4.054 3.354 2.254 - - 2.254 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 192 147 410 ~ 151 178 636 847 - - 1006 - -
          Stage 1 374 392 - 605 584 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 716 507 - 366 392 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 173 139 410 ~ 103 168 636 847 - - 1006 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 173 139 - ~ 103 168 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 356 374 - 600 579 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 687 502 - 297 373 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 32.97 $ 355.53 0.09 0.32
HCM LOS D F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 16 - - 192 112 66 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.006 - - 0.337 1.552 0.028 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 9.3 0 - 33$ 355.5 8.7 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - D F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 1.4 12.8 0.1 - -

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s
+: Computation Not Defined       *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 7 372 4 1 701
Future Vol, veh/h 7 7 372 4 1 701
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 76 76 76 76 76 76
Heavy Vehicles, % 7 7 7 7 7 7
Mvmt Flow 9 9 489 5 1 922

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1417 492 0 0 495 0
          Stage 1 492 - - - - -
          Stage 2 925 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.47 6.27 - - 4.17 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.47 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.47 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.563 3.363 - - 2.263 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 147 567 - - 1044 -
          Stage 1 604 - - - - -
          Stage 2 378 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 147 567 - - 1044 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 147 - - - - -
          Stage 1 604 - - - - -
          Stage 2 377 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 21.76 0 0.01
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 233 3 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.079 0.001 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 21.8 8.5 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 9 11 518 293 10
Future Vol, veh/h 7 9 11 518 293 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 10 12 551 312 11

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 886 312 312 0 - 0
          Stage 1 312 - - - - -
          Stage 2 574 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 315 728 1249 - - -
          Stage 1 742 - - - - -
          Stage 2 563 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 312 728 1249 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 312 - - - - -
          Stage 1 735 - - - - -
          Stage 2 563 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 13.13 0.16 0
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 1249 - 460 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - 0.037 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 7.9 - 13.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 14 7 77 23 25 8 393 154 10 222 8
Future Vol, veh/h 2 14 7 77 23 25 8 393 154 10 222 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 2 14 7 79 24 26 8 405 159 10 229 8

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 687 834 233 758 759 485 237 0 0 564 0 0
          Stage 1 254 254 - 501 501 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 434 580 - 257 258 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.11 6.51 6.21 7.11 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - 4.11 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.11 5.51 - 6.11 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.11 5.51 - 6.11 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - 2.209 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 362 305 809 325 337 584 1336 - - 1013 - -
          Stage 1 753 699 - 554 544 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 603 502 - 750 696 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 315 299 809 300 330 584 1336 - - 1013 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 315 299 - 300 330 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 744 691 - 549 539 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 546 497 - 719 688 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 15.34 21.99 0.11 0.36
HCM LOS C C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 25 - - 372 339 74 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.006 - - 0.064 0.38 0.01 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 7.7 0 - 15.3 22 8.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - C C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 1.7 0 - -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Existing 2025

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 3 528 4 6 301
Future Vol, veh/h 6 3 528 4 6 301
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 6 3 568 4 6 324

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 906 570 0 0 572 0
          Stage 1 570 - - - - -
          Stage 2 337 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.21 - - 4.11 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 3.309 - - 2.209 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 308 523 - - 1006 -
          Stage 1 568 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 305 523 - - 1006 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 305 - - - - -
          Stage 1 568 - - - - -
          Stage 2 720 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 15.44 0 0.17
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 354 35 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.027 0.006 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 15.4 8.6 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1 0 -



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No-Build (Year 2030) 

  



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 21 3 375 681 6
Future Vol, veh/h 15 21 3 375 681 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 75 75 75 75
Heavy Vehicles, % 6 6 6 6 6 6
Mvmt Flow 20 28 4 500 908 8

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1416 908 908 0 - 0
          Stage 1 908 - - - - -
          Stage 2 508 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.46 6.26 4.16 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.46 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.46 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.554 3.354 2.254 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 148 328 733 - - -
          Stage 1 387 - - - - -
          Stage 2 596 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 147 328 733 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 147 - - - - -
          Stage 1 385 - - - - -
          Stage 2 596 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 26.22 0.08 0
HCM LOS D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 733 - 217 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.005 - 0.221 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 9.9 - 26.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.8 - -



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 443.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 30 23 139 4 22 5 297 247 44 720 1
Future Vol, veh/h 5 30 23 139 4 22 5 297 247 44 720 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74
Heavy Vehicles, % 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Mvmt Flow 7 41 31 188 5 30 7 401 334 59 973 1

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1510 1841 974 1694 1675 568 974 0 0 735 0 0
          Stage 1 1093 1093 - 582 582 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 418 749 - 1112 1093 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.16 6.56 6.26 7.16 6.56 6.26 4.16 - - 4.16 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.16 5.56 - 6.16 5.56 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.16 5.56 - 6.16 5.56 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.554 4.054 3.354 3.554 4.054 3.354 2.254 - - 2.254 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 97 74 300 ~ 72 93 515 692 - - 852 - -
          Stage 1 255 286 - 492 493 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 605 414 - 249 285 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 71 61 300 ~ 20 78 515 692 - - 852 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 71 61 - ~ 20 78 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 216 242 - 483 484 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 554 406 - ~ 157 242 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 140.64 $ 4075.09 0.09 0.55
HCM LOS F F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 15 - - 91 24 104 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - - 0.86 9.349 0.07 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 10.3 0 - 140.6$ 4075.1 9.5 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - F F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 4.7 27.9 0.2 - -

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s
+: Computation Not Defined       *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 9 508 5 1 906
Future Vol, veh/h 9 9 508 5 1 906
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 76 76 76 76 76 76
Heavy Vehicles, % 7 7 7 7 7 7
Mvmt Flow 12 12 668 7 1 1192

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1866 672 0 0 675 0
          Stage 1 672 - - - - -
          Stage 2 1195 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.47 6.27 - - 4.17 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.47 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.47 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.563 3.363 - - 2.263 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 77 447 - - 893 -
          Stage 1 498 - - - - -
          Stage 2 280 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 77 447 - - 893 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 77 - - - - -
          Stage 1 498 - - - - -
          Stage 2 279 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 38.3 0 0.01
HCM LOS E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 131 2 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.18 0.001 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 38.3 9 0
HCM Lane LOS - - E A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.6 0 -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 11 13 630 356 12
Future Vol, veh/h 9 11 13 630 356 12
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 12 14 670 379 13

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1077 379 379 0 - 0
          Stage 1 379 - - - - -
          Stage 2 698 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 243 668 1180 - - -
          Stage 1 692 - - - - -
          Stage 2 494 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 240 668 1180 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 240 - - - - -
          Stage 1 684 - - - - -
          Stage 2 494 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 15.31 0.16 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 1180 - 370 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.057 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 8.1 - 15.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 9.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 17 9 94 28 52 10 539 187 12 347 10
Future Vol, veh/h 2 17 9 94 28 52 10 539 187 12 347 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97 97
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 2 18 9 97 29 54 10 556 193 12 358 10

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 978 1157 363 1064 1065 652 368 0 0 748 0 0
          Stage 1 388 388 - 673 673 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 591 769 - 391 393 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.11 6.51 6.21 7.11 6.51 6.21 4.11 - - 4.11 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.11 5.51 - 6.11 5.51 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.11 5.51 - 6.11 5.51 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 4.009 3.309 3.509 4.009 3.309 2.209 - - 2.209 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 231 197 684 202 223 470 1196 - - 865 - -
          Stage 1 638 611 - 447 456 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 495 412 - 635 608 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 172 191 684 175 216 470 1196 - - 865 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 172 191 - 175 216 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 627 600 - 440 449 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 404 406 - 597 597 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 21.59 64.64 0.11 0.3
HCM LOS C F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 23 - - 246 224 58 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - - 0.117 0.801 0.014 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 8 0 - 21.6 64.6 9.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - C F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.4 5.9 0 - -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr No-Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 4 703 5 7 443
Future Vol, veh/h 7 4 703 5 7 443
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 8 4 756 5 8 476

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1250 759 0 0 761 0
          Stage 1 759 - - - - -
          Stage 2 491 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.21 - - 4.11 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 3.309 - - 2.209 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 192 408 - - 855 -
          Stage 1 464 - - - - -
          Stage 2 617 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 189 408 - - 855 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 189 - - - - -
          Stage 1 464 - - - - -
          Stage 2 610 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 21.11 0 0.14
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 235 28 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.05 0.009 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 21.1 9.2 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0 -



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No-Build (Year 2030) with Improvements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary PM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd No-Build Improvement 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 2 17 9 94 28 52 10 539 187 12 347 10
Future Volume (veh/h) 2 17 9 94 28 52 10 539 187 12 347 10
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 2 18 9 97 29 0 10 556 0 12 358 10
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Cap, veh/h 36 120 56 172 35 40 1490 54 1412 39
Arrive On Green 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.00 0.80 0.80 0.00 0.80 0.80 0.80
Sat Flow, veh/h 38 1194 555 1180 353 1598 12 1864 1598 28 1766 48
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 29 0 0 126 0 0 566 0 0 380 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1787 0 0 1532 0 1598 1875 0 1598 1843 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.8 0.0 0.0 9.6 0.0 0.0 10.3 0.0 0.0 6.1 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.07 0.31 0.77 1.00 0.02 1.00 0.03 0.03
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 212 0 0 207 0 1530 0 1504 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.61 0.00 0.37 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 458 0 0 416 0 1530 0 1504 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 49.3 0.0 0.0 52.7 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.3 0.0 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.8 0.0 0.0 3.9 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 49.6 0.0 0.0 55.6 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS D E A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 29 126 566 380
Approach Delay, s/veh 49.6 55.6 4.1 3.4
Approach LOS D E A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 101.9 18.1 101.9 18.1
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 79.0 29.0 79.0 29.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 12.3 3.8 8.1 11.6
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 4.4 0.1 2.7 0.5

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 11.0
HCM 7th LOS B

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [NBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary AM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd No-Build Improvement 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 5 30 23 139 4 22 5 297 247 44 720 1
Future Volume (veh/h) 5 30 23 139 4 22 5 297 247 44 720 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 7 41 31 188 5 0 7 401 0 59 973 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74
Percent Heavy Veh, % 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Cap, veh/h 43 161 110 269 6 37 1311 86 1228 1
Arrive On Green 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.00 0.74 0.74 0.00 0.74 0.74 0.74
Sat Flow, veh/h 61 982 674 1277 34 1535 9 1781 1535 74 1668 2
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 79 0 0 193 0 0 408 0 0 1033 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1716 0 0 1311 0 1535 1791 0 1535 1744 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 23.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.9 0.0 0.0 17.3 0.0 0.0 9.2 0.0 0.0 44.7 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.09 0.39 0.97 1.00 0.02 1.00 0.06 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 314 0 0 274 0 1348 0 1315 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.70 0.00 0.30 0.00 0.79 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 373 0 0 321 0 1348 0 1315 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 44.0 0.0 0.0 49.1 0.0 0.0 5.4 0.0 0.0 9.9 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.4 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 4.8 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.1 0.0 0.0 6.1 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 0.0 16.2 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 44.4 0.0 0.0 54.7 0.0 0.0 6.0 0.0 0.0 14.7 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS D D A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 79 193 408 1033
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.4 54.7 6.0 14.7
Approach LOS D D A B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 94.3 25.7 94.3 25.7
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 84.0 24.0 84.0 24.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.2 6.9 46.7 19.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.0 0.3 11.8 0.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 18.5
HCM 7th LOS B

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [NBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Build (Year 2030)  

  



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 16.1

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 78 74 17 535 886 34
Future Vol, veh/h 78 74 17 535 886 34
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 6 6 2
Mvmt Flow 89 84 19 608 1007 39

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1653 1007 1007 0 - 0
          Stage 1 1007 - - - - -
          Stage 2 647 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 108 292 688 - - -
          Stage 1 353 - - - - -
          Stage 2 521 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 105 292 688 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 105 - - - - -
          Stage 1 343 - - - - -
          Stage 2 521 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 171.39 0.32 0
HCM LOS F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 688 - 153 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.028 - 1.131 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 10.4 - 171.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS B - F - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 9.4 - -



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary AM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 5 30 23 161 4 22 5 321 307 44 729 1
Future Volume (veh/h) 5 30 23 161 4 22 5 321 307 44 729 1
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811 1811
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 7 41 31 218 5 0 7 434 0 59 985 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74 0.74
Percent Heavy Veh, % 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Cap, veh/h 44 182 125 297 5 36 1276 84 1191 1
Arrive On Green 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.00 0.72 0.72 0.00 0.72 0.72 0.72
Sat Flow, veh/h 63 982 675 1285 29 1535 8 1785 1535 73 1666 2
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 79 0 0 223 0 0 441 0 0 1045 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1721 0 0 1315 0 1535 1793 0 1535 1741 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 29.2 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.8 0.0 0.0 19.9 0.0 0.0 11.0 0.0 0.0 50.2 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.09 0.39 0.98 1.00 0.02 1.00 0.06 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 351 0 0 302 0 1313 0 1276 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.23 0.00 0.00 0.74 0.00 0.34 0.00 0.82 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 376 0 0 322 0 1313 0 1276 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 41.8 0.0 0.0 47.9 0.0 0.0 6.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.3 0.0 0.0 8.1 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 5.9 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.0 0.0 0.0 7.2 0.0 0.0 4.1 0.0 0.0 18.9 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 42.1 0.0 0.0 56.0 0.0 0.0 7.1 0.0 0.0 17.7 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS D E A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 79 223 441 1045
Approach Delay, s/veh 42.1 56.0 7.1 17.7
Approach LOS D E A B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 91.8 28.2 91.8 28.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 84.0 24.0 84.0 24.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 13.0 6.8 52.2 21.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.3 0.3 11.5 0.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 21.0
HCM 7th LOS C

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [NBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
3: SR 9 & Driveway #2 Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 24 108 45 712 955 4
Future Vol, veh/h 24 108 45 712 955 4
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 200 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 6 6 2
Mvmt Flow 27 123 51 809 1085 5

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1997 1085 1090 0 - 0
          Stage 1 1085 - - - - -
          Stage 2 911 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 66 263 640 - - -
          Stage 1 324 - - - - -
          Stage 2 392 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 61 263 640 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 61 - - - - -
          Stage 1 298 - - - - -
          Stage 2 392 - - - - -

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 43.76 0.66 0
HCM LOS E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 640 - 61 263 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.08 - 0.448 0.466 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 11.1 - 105.3 30.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS B - F D - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - 1.7 2.3 - -



HCM 7th TWSC AM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 9 566 5 1 1062
Future Vol, veh/h 9 9 566 5 1 1062
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 76 76 76 76 76 76
Heavy Vehicles, % 7 7 7 7 7 7
Mvmt Flow 12 12 745 7 1 1397

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 2148 748 0 0 751 0
          Stage 1 748 - - - - -
          Stage 2 1400 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.47 6.27 - - 4.17 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.47 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.47 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.563 3.363 - - 2.263 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 51 404 - - 836 -
          Stage 1 459 - - - - -
          Stage 2 222 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 51 404 - - 836 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 51 - - - - -
          Stage 1 459 - - - - -
          Stage 2 221 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 58.27 0 0.01
HCM LOS F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 91 2 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.261 0.002 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 58.3 9.3 0
HCM Lane LOS - - F A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1 0 -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
1: SR 9 & Thunder Valley Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBL EBR NEL NET SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 48 42 51 646 369 88
Future Vol, veh/h 48 42 51 646 369 88
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - Yield
Storage Length 0 - 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 51 45 54 687 393 94

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1188 393 393 0 - 0
          Stage 1 393 - - - - -
          Stage 2 796 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 208 656 1166 - - -
          Stage 1 682 - - - - -
          Stage 2 444 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 198 656 1166 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 198 - - - - -
          Stage 1 651 - - - - -
          Stage 2 444 - - - - -

Approach EB NE SW
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 23.06 0.6 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NEL NET EBLn1 SWT SWR
Capacity (veh/h) 1166 - 294 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.047 - 0.326 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 8.2 - 23.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 1.4 - -



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary PM Peak Hour
2: SR 9 & J C Burt Rd/Perimeter Rd Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 2 17 9 158 28 52 10 555 226 12 372 10
Future Volume (veh/h) 2 17 9 158 28 52 10 555 226 12 372 10
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885 1885
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 2 18 9 163 29 0 10 572 0 12 384 10
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Cap, veh/h 37 178 83 243 33 39 1400 49 1335 34
Arrive On Green 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.00 0.75 0.75 0.00 0.75 0.75 0.75
Sat Flow, veh/h 36 1200 556 1261 224 1598 11 1864 1598 25 1777 45
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 29 0 0 192 0 0 582 0 0 406 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1792 0 0 1485 0 1598 1875 0 1598 1847 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.7 0.0 0.0 15.1 0.0 0.0 13.3 0.0 0.0 8.2 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 0.07 0.31 0.85 1.00 0.02 1.00 0.03 0.02
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 299 0 0 276 0 1439 0 1418 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.69 0.00 0.40 0.00 0.29 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 461 0 0 411 0 1439 0 1418 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 44.2 0.0 0.0 49.7 0.0 0.0 5.4 0.0 0.0 4.7 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.0 0.0 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.8 0.0 0.0 5.9 0.0 0.0 4.9 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 44.3 0.0 0.0 52.9 0.0 0.0 6.2 0.0 0.0 5.2 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS D D A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 29 192 582 406
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.3 52.9 6.2 5.2
Approach LOS D D A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 96.2 23.8 96.2 23.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 79.0 29.0 79.0 29.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 15.3 3.7 10.2 17.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 4.6 0.1 2.9 0.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 14.2
HCM 7th LOS B

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [NBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
3: SR 9 & Driveway #2 Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 70 127 559 475 13
Future Vol, veh/h 16 70 127 559 475 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 200 - - 200
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 17 74 135 595 505 14

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1370 505 519 0 - 0
          Stage 1 505 - - - - -
          Stage 2 865 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.21 4.11 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 3.309 2.209 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 162 569 1052 - - -
          Stage 1 608 - - - - -
          Stage 2 414 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 141 569 1052 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 141 - - - - -
          Stage 1 530 - - - - -
          Stage 2 414 - - - - -

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 16.31 1.65 0
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1052 - 141 569 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.128 - 0.12 0.131 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 8.9 - 33.9 12.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - -



HCM 7th TWSC PM Peak Hour
4: SR 9 & Mill Creek Dr Build 2030

KCI Synchro 12 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 4 868 5 7 544
Future Vol, veh/h 7 4 868 5 7 544
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 1 1 1 1 1
Mvmt Flow 8 4 933 5 8 585

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1536 936 0 0 939 0
          Stage 1 936 - - - - -
          Stage 2 600 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.41 6.21 - - 4.11 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.41 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.41 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.509 3.309 - - 2.209 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 128 323 - - 734 -
          Stage 1 383 - - - - -
          Stage 2 550 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 126 323 - - 734 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 126 - - - - -
          Stage 1 383 - - - - -
          Stage 2 542 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 28.91 0 0.13
HCM LOS D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 162 23 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.073 0.01 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 28.9 10 0
HCM Lane LOS - - D A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0 -



Cornerstone Expansion Traffic Impact Study September 2025 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix G 

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis 

 



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Based on 2009 MUTCD CASE 1

Date: 9/15/2025

Intersection:

Major Street:

Major Street number of approach lanes: 1

Minor Street: Perimeter Road/J C Burt Road

Minor Street number of approach lanes: 1

Isolated Community with population less than 10,000 (Y or N): N ISOLATED COMMUNITY WITH POPULATION LESS THAN 10,000 (Y OR N):

85th persentile speed greater than 40 MPH on major street (Y or N): N *per GDOT policy to use 100% volumes 85TH PERCENTILE SPEED GREATER THAN 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET (Y OR N):

Major St Minor St
Both 

Approaches

Highest 

Approach

Warrant 1: Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume

Condition A 500 150

Condition B 750 75

Condition C-1 and 400 120

Condition C-2 (needs to meet both) 600 60

Warrant 2: Four-Hour Vehicular Volume

see Figure 4C-2

Warrant 3: Peak Hour

see Figure 4C-4

Case 1: 2030 No-Build Traffic Volumes - per GDOT 100% policy

Perimeter Road Side-Street Volume (LT + T) vs. SR 9 mainline volume

Condition A Condition B Condition C

7:00 am to 8:00 am 1,314 143 Y Y Y Y

8:00 am to 9:00 am 0 0

9:00 am to 10:00 am 0 0

10:00 am to 11:00 am 0 0

11:00 am to 12:00 pm 0 0

12:00 pm to 1:00 pm 0 0

1:00 pm to 2:00 pm 0 0

2:00 pm to 3:00 pm 0 0

3:00 pm to 4:00 pm 0 0

4:00 pm to 5:00 pm 0 0

5:00 pm to 6:00 pm 1,105 122 Y Y Y

6:00 pm to 7:00 pm 0 0

Total 0 2 2 2 1

Required 8 8 8 4 1

Signal Warrant Met? No No No No Yes

Peak Hour 

Warrant

Note: Minor Street volumes DO NOT 

include right-turn volumes 

Time Major St Minor St
Eight Hour Warrants Four Hour 

Warrant

SR 9 at Perimeter Road/J C Burt Road

SR 9



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    CONSIDERATION OF VEHICLE PURCHASES 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/22/2026   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other SPLOST VII 

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL TO PURCHASE TWO (2) CHEVY SILVERADO 1500 RST 4WD CREW 
CABS AT $54,000.00 PER TRUCK TOTALLING $108,000.00 

 

    LOW QUOTE PROVIDED BY JOHN MEGEL CHEVROLET 
 

    TO BE PAID OUT OF SPLOST VII – PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

QUOTES RECEIVED: 
• JOHN MEGEL CHEVROLET - $54,000.00 
• HARDY CHEVROLET - $56,558.00 
• ANDEAN CHEVROLET - $55,627.64 

 

THE CITY WILL BE RETIRING AND SELLING THE TWO OLDEST VEHICLES IN OUR FLEET 
• 2005 CHEVY SILVERADO – 21 YEARS OLD 
• 2007 F250 UTILITY BED – 19 YEARS OLD 

 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
CITY MANAGER RECOMMENDS APPROVAL AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    10    
 

 

 











                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    FINANCIAL POLICY AMENDMENT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/22/2026   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 

TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCIAL POLICY: 
 

Section IX. C Purchasing of Goods and Services 
• Department heads may authorize purchases under $10,000, provided costs stay within the 

approved budget. 
• City Manager may authorize purchases under $50,000, provided costs stay within the approved 

budget. 
• Purchases over $10,000 and up to $100,000 are generally bid informally, must stay within the 

approved budget, and require City Council approval. 
• Increase the threshold for formal sealed bids from $25,000 to $100,000. 
• Add IX, C, 6: Purchases for construction services for public works projects. 
• All purchases must comply with existing procurement policies and internal controls.  

 

Section VII. Revenues 
• To add two additional revenue sources: Impact fees and TSPLOST revenues. 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• HB 137 increased Public Works bidding threshold from $100,000 to $250,000. This is largely 
due to inflation driving up the cost of construction materials, labor, and services.  

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 

    Review presented changes. Will be requesting final approval at 2/2/26 Meeting.  
 
    If you have questions or need further explanation, let me know.   
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Evans, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    11    
 

 

 



Addendum to Finance Policy Manual 
 
 
 
 
IX. Purchasing 
 
C. Purchasing of Good and Services 
 
1. Each Department Head shall have the authority to purchase individual goods/services costing 
less than $10,000 each as long as costs remain within the approved budget. Each department head 
is responsible to ensure that internal control procedures set forth in this Financial Policy are 
followed. These purchases are considered small purchases and can be handled using telephone 
quotes.  
 
2. Purchases for individual goods/services costing more than $10,000 and less than $50,000 each 
can be authorized by the City Manager as long as costs remain within the approved budget. The 
department shall make every effort to solicit a minimum of three competitive prices as set forth in 
paragraph 3 below.  
 
3. Purchases for individual goods/services costing more than $50,000 and less than $100,000 are 
generally bid through an informal bid process. These purchases are handled by written quotes/bids. 
An invitation to bid is the solicitation of written offers and/or pricing based on specification of the 
required equipment, material, and/or general service. These are neither publicly advertised in the 
newspaper nor opened publicly but must be within the budget for that department approved by the 
City Council.  
 
4. Purchases for individual goods/services costing more than $100,000 are considered as formal 
sealed bids. They are advertised for a minimum of two (2) weeks prior to bid opening and the 
contract award must be approved by the City Council. Bids are advertised in the legal organ and 
posted on the City’s web site. A public bid opening is required for formal sealed bids. Department 
Heads shall document the process. All contracts for goods/services exceeding $50,000 in value 
shall be reviewed by the City Attorney and approved by the City Council.  
 
5. Annual renewable contracts and professional service providers (City Attorney, City Auditor, 
City Engineer, City Judge, City Geologist, etc.) shall be considered and approved annually by the 
City Council at the December meeting.  
 
6. Construction services for public works projects require written contracts to be approved by the 
City of Dawsonville City Council.  State law requirements for such procurement processes 
involving formal bidding or requests for proposals begin when the project reaches $250,000.00 or 
more.  For projects below that amount the following requirements apply: 

a) Public works construction projects estimated to cost less than $10,000.00 may proceed 
with the City Manager or designee obtaining a quote from a qualified contractor and 
presenting the same to the Council for approval. 



b) Public works construction projects estimated to cost between $10,000.00 and $250,000.00 
require the City Manager or designee to obtain three quotes from qualified contractors, 
and presenting the same to the Council for approval.  In the event that three quotes cannot 
be obtained, the Council may proceed on fewer quotes provided that there is justification 
for why less than three quotes are presented (i.e. lack of sufficient qualified contractors; 
lack of sufficient responses; sole source contracts; etc.)  

c) Regardless of the estimated cost, the actual proposed price received determines the method 
used to award a public works construction contract.  By way of example, if the estimated 
cost of a project is $200,000.00, but all three prices received from qualified contractors 
exceed $250,000.00, then the formal requirements for competitive bidding or requests for 
proposals of state law must be satisfied.   

Construction bidders are required to post performance and payment bonds as required by state law. 
Evidence of liability insurance equal to or exceeding the then current liability limits held by the 
City and workmen’s compensation insurance is required prior to award. Any waiver of bid, 
performance, or payment bonds will be noted clearly for Council consideration and must be in 
compliance with state law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section VII. Revenues 
B. Issues 
Add 9. And 10.  
 
9. Impact Fees – The City Council imposed a development impact fee to help manage growth and 
protect the health safety, and well-being of its residents. Impact fees are one-time charges assessed 
on new development to help fund the expansion of public facilities and infrastructure needed to 
serve the growth. These revenues are restricted by law and must be used for eligible capital 
improvements such as roads, parks, public safety facilities, and utilities that serve new 
development for which a building permit is issued. Impact fees are collected to offset a particular 
category of impact, are only to be utilized for the category for which they were collected. 
 
10. TSPLOST Revenues – Transportation Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (TSPLOST) 
revenues are generated through a voter-approved sales tax dedicated exclusively to transportation-
related purposes. These funds are restricted to uses such as road improvements, traffic 
management, sidewalks, bridges, and other transportation infrastructure projects consistent with 
the approved TSPLOST project list. The percentage of TSPLOST proceeds are negotiated every 5 
to 6 years and should be budgeted based upon the prior year’s collections absent significant reason 
for upward or downward adjustment or based upon a change in the percentage split agreement 
with the County.   
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/22/2026 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE CITY UPDATES  

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES:   
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Jacob Evans, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    12      
 

 

 



City Manager Report 
 

 
Martin Luther King Jr. Day: As a reminder, City Hall will be closed on Monday, January 19th, 2026 in observance of 
Martin Luther King Jr. Day.  
 
Retreat: The retreat is scheduled for February 20–22 at the BOE building. Lunch will be catered each day for attendees. 
 
Cameras at Well Sites: Staff has encountered challenges installing cameras at each well and spring site. Under 
government pricing, Starlink has become three times more expensive, with an excessive monthly charge of 
approximately $1,500. Staff is reevaluating all options. 
 
UPS Store: The planned opening date for the UPS Store is Tuesday, January 20, 2025. 
 
Upstairs Offices: My first office (formerly the P&Z Director’s office) has now been divided into two offices. This 
provides additional workspace for our growing staff. The second window has also been opened, and both offices look 
excellent. 
 
Pond aerators: Four aerators at the wastewater treatment pond have been down. Staff obtained quotes and ordered 
four replacement motors (approximately $9,000 total). The motors should arrive within a week, and staff will have them 
operational shortly thereafter. 
 
New Dawson County Maps: New Dawson County maps have been released, and they now include an updated City 
of Dawsonville map along with refreshed city branding. 
 
LED Lights on Pavilion 4: Due to ongoing vandalism at Pavilion 4, staff installed new LED lights on each side of the 
structure. These lights help improve camera visibility of individuals entering and exiting the restrooms where vandalism 
has occurred. 
 
Facility Cleanup: Staff has been working extensively this week to clean the wastewater treatment pond area, the 
shop, and surrounding spaces. This effort resulted in three dumpsters filled with debris and materials no longer usable. 
 
Park equipment: The new piece of exercise equipment discussed at a recent Council meeting was delivered this 
week. Staff is installing this equipment today 1/16/26. 
 
Maple Street Sidewalk: With the Jenkins property resolved, staff is moving forward with plans for a sidewalk on Maple 
Street. Quotes are being obtained and should fall within my approval limit. 
 
CDL Training: John Tatum is scheduled for CDL training from February 9 – March 3. 
 
Syclone Onboarding: Syclone has officially begun the onboarding process. Until onboarding is complete, we will 
temporarily have two monthly IT charges—one from Syclone and one from Logically. Syclone is working to finalize 
onboarding before month’s end. 
 
SPLOST 8: City and County leadership met on January 15, 2026, to sign the IGA for SPLOST 8. 
 
Water Tower Inspection: American Tank Maintenance will be stopping by the week of January 19th to discuss the 
results of our inspections.    
 
Landlord Accounts: No new update 

Generator Grants – GEMA: No new update 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: FINANCE DIRECTOR    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/22/2026  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
FINANCIAL REPORTS REFLECTING FUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY THROUGH DECEMBER 
31, 2025 ARE ATTACHED 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
     
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Robin Gazaway, Finance Director   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  13   
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2025 -December 31, 2025

50%

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 2,719,400$       1,593,615$       58.60%
      Licenses and permits 91,500              217,308            237.50%
      Intergovernmental revenues 56,300              58,071              103.15%
      Fees 339,035            477,537            140.85%
      Other 270,151            189,276            70.06%

               Total revenues 3,476,386         2,535,807         72.94%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 167,620            81,688              48.73%
      Mayor 63,700              29,215              45.86%
      Elections 20,000              1,099                5.50%
      Administration 1,127,000         506,345            44.93%
      City Hall building 246,500            109,358            44.36%
      Animal control 2,000                131                   6.55%
      Roads 899,500            413,583            45.98%
      Parks 134,000            48,071              35.87%
      Planning and zoning 574,922            280,654            48.82%
      Economic development 241,144            140,139            58.11%

 
               Total expenditures 3,476,386         1,610,283         46.32%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 925,524            

      Transfer in From Reserves (925,524)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2025 - December 31, 2025

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
       Water fees 1,000,000$     536,474$        53.65%
       Sewer fees 1,400,000       780,030          55.72%
       Garbage fees 250,000          184,483          73.79%
       Miscellaneous 198,328          104,108          52.49%

               
               Total revenues 2,848,328       1,605,095       56.35%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 633,000          333,761          52.73%
        Garbage service 325,200          167,520          51.51%
        Group insurance 236,000          84,021            35.60%
        Insurance 600                 -                  0.00%
        Interest 77,000            28,812            37.42%
        Payroll taxes 32,700            15,706            48.03%
        Professional 206,000          147,845          71.77%
        Miscellaneous 217,200          70,100            32.27%
        Repairs/supplies 305,000          151,710          49.74%
        Retirement 33,000            18,682            56.61%
        Salaries 422,628          199,548          47.22%
       Overtime 9,788              
        Technical services 142,000          60,150            42.36%
        Utilities 218,000          99,789            45.77%

               Total expenditures 2,848,328       1,387,432       48.71%

INCOME (LOSS) 217,663          



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VI

July 1, 2025 - December 31, 2025

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Interest 972                   294                   30.25%
       Other 8,028                -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 9,000                294                   3.27%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                4,500                50.00%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 9,000                4,500                50.00%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (4,206)              

      Transfer in From Reserves 4,206                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VII

July 1, 2025 - December 30, 2025

SPLOST VII
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,300,000         851,939            65.53%
       Interest 84,000              51,502              61.31%
       Other 1,200,000         -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 2,584,000         903,441            34.96%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition 200,000            -                   0.00%
       Roads and sidewalks 2,384,000         -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Land Acq. / Downtown -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects/Sewer Projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 2,584,000         -                   0.00%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 903,441            

      Transfer in From Reserves (903,441)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
TSPLOST 

July 1, 2025 - December 30, 2025

TSPLOST 
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 685,000            334,727            48.87%
       Interest 2,500                2,483                99.32%
       Other -                   -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 687,500            337,210            49.05%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
-                   -                   #DIV/0!

       Roads 687,500            634,934            92.35%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 687,500            634,934            92.35%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (297,724)          

      Transfer in From Reserves 297,724            
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                       



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
IMPACT FEES 

July 1, 2025 - December 31, 2025

TSPLOST 
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Fees 212,500            438,600            206.40%
       Interest 1,596                3,016                188.97%
       Other 198,404            -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 412,500            441,616            107.06%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
-                   -                   #DIV/0!

       Park Improvements 412,500            85,858              20.81%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 412,500            85,858              20.81%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 355,758            

      Transfer in From Reserves (355,758)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                       


	1. 01.22.2026 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 01.05.2026 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting
	7a. 3. 01.15.2026 Special Called Joint Meeting Minutes
	7b. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items WRITE OFF UNCOLLECTED DEBT
	8. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION
	9. 1. 01.22.2026 ES AGENDA _ZA-C2600057_BK TURNER
	9. 2. 01.22.2026 ZA-C2600057 01.05.2026 BK TURNER FAMILY_
	ADP33F8.tmp
	Existing Land Use
	Existing Zoning
	Direction from Site
	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN


	10. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items VEHICLE PURCHASE
	10. 2. Vehicle Quotes
	11. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items AMENDMENT TO FINANCIAL POLICY
	11. 2. Uupdate Finance Policy
	12. 1.  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	12. 2. City Manager's Report
	13. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items FINANCE DIRECTOR
	13. 2. Financial Statements-DEC25
	GF Budget
	WS vs Budget
	SPLOST
	SPLOST VII
	TSPLOST
	Impact Fees

	Item 9 Traffic Impact Study 093025.pdf
	A - Figures.pdf
	Default Section
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5


	B- Concept Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1 of 1 - CONCEPT (2)






